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1 (THIS BEGINS PUBLIC SESSION)

P R 0 C E E D 1 N G S

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Good morning.

Pleasebe seated.

I was telling my friends I'm not a

6 real judge. I just play one at work, but with

7 all of the suits and the boxes and the binders,

8 suddenly I feel like a real judge again.

10

Well, good morning, all.
Is anyone having any trouble hearing

11 me?

12 Pleaselet me know -- you are?

13 Okay. I will see if I can — — is
14 that any better?
15 Oh, okay. At any time during these

16 proceedingsif anyone has trouble hearing,

17 please let us know. We -- otherwise, we will

18 not be aware and you could miss out. on

19 something really exciting.
20 Today ma.rks the commencementof the

21 copyright royalty judge's hearing to Determine

22 Terms and Royalty Ra.tes for the Ephemeral

23 Reproductionand Digital Performanceof Sound

24 Recordingsduring the period January1st, 2016

25 to December 31st, 2020.
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For those of you I have yet to meet,

2 I am Judge SuzanneBarnett. Seatedto my right
3 is Judge JessieFeder. Seatedto my left,
4 Judge David Strickler.

Our attorney advisor, Mrs. Kim

6 Whittle has been drafted for the duration to

7 act as clerk of the court. She is seatedover

8 in the spotlight. She will manage all exhibits

9 and keep the official record of admitted and

10 refusedexhibits. At the end of the hearing,

11 she will also work with your staff to return or

12 destroy exhibits that you did not offer or that
13 the judges refused.

Seatedat the back of the room at

15 the last row of tables is our senior counsel,

16 Mr. Rich Strausser. Richard Strausser. He

17 might and might not attend all days, but he is
18 here certainly for the beginning and what we

19 hope will be a very interestingsessiontoday.

20 You — — I 'm sure you'e all met our

21 court reporters today. On duty is Ms. Bonnie

22 Russo and she will be trading off with Ms.

23 Michele Eddy. They will be rotating. We have

24 two reporters, so we can all have daily
25 tran.scripts without having to take time off to
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1 resuscitatethe court reporter.
Pleaserespectthe skill and

3 patienceof the reportersby speakingone at a

4 time clearly and at a conversationalrate.
We have 13 participants in this

6 hearing, this proceeding, excuseme. Some are

7 jointly representedby Counsel. We anticipate
8 some ebb and flow of counsel witnessesand

9 guestsduring the course of the hearing. We

10 ask that anyone entering or leaving the hearing

11 room do so without disturbing the ongoing

12 proceedingsto the extent possible. We have

13 crowded the room and rearrangedtables and

14 welcomed shelving and technology and so forth
15 to accommodatethis hearing. As a result, in

16 the counsel table rows, some power and data

17 monuments on the floor could presenta tripping
18 hazard. Be alert. You have been warned. We

19 know they are there. Now you know they are

20 there.
21 All of the parties have brought in

22 voluminous materials all over the room and so

23 we ask that you exercisecare and courtesy when

24 you are gaining accessto those materials or

25 moving about the hearing room. As on the side,
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1 it is public knowledge, indeed, it is
2 statutorily mandatedthat the judges employe

3 three full-time staff members total. While our

4 program specialist, administrativespecialist
5 was in the processof wrangling dozens of

6 banker'sboxes of binders and documentsfor

7 this proceeding, one of our folding tables
8 collapsed, dumping table boxes and all on our

9 program specialist. For the past week, she has

10 been on leave nursing an injured back. She

11 expectsand we hope for a full recovery, but

12 that means our total personpower for the past
13 week has been five strong.

14 Now, in the interest of full
15 disclosure, I want to state that many of the

16 participants in this proceedingwho work with

17 larger teams have pitched in generously. We

18 welcomed, thankfully, that assistancewith

19 logistics, technology, documentpreparationand

20 moral support. The staffs of the participants
21 work with our attorney advisor. The judges do

22 not. know, and thereforecannot be influenced by

23 which participants in particular provided the

24 necessaryassistance,but we do want you all to

25 know that we appreciateit greatly.
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There are some loose ends. Motions

2 and amendmentsand supplementscontinue to flow

3 into our office until late in the day last
4 Friday. We, as a panel, have not discussedthe

5 contentsof the papers filed within the last
6 week. A partial list includes Pandora'

7 objections to Mr. Johnson'sexhibits; service

8 participantsobjections to Mr. Johnson's

9 exhibits; SoundExchangemotions in limine;

10 SoundExchangemotion to strike portions of

11 testimony; service participantsobjections to

12 SoundExchangeexhibits; SoundExchangeresponse

13 to iHeart responseto SoundExchangeevidentiary
14 objections; service participantsobjections to

15 SoundExchangeproposedsupplementalexhibits;
16 iHeart second supplementalexhibit list;
17 National Religious Broadcasterssupplemental

18 exhibits and amendedexhibit list; NAB

19 supplementalexhibit and amendedexhibit list;
20 iHeart emergencymotion challenging

21 SoundExchange'sassertionof privilege and

22 attempt to clawback documents. And some of

23 those arrived in our secondmail delivery on

24 Friday. Really.

25 To the extent you need guidance on

(866) 448 — DEPO www.CapitalReporting
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1 any of those pending motions for the purposes

2 of your opening statementstoday, you may

3 assumethat all requestswere not filed or are

4 denied. If, after they are able to consult, or

5 we are able to consult the judge's change that
6 position, you may adjust your presentationof

7 evidenceaccordingly. Opening statementsare

8 meant as a guide to assist the judges. The

9 statementsand comments of Counsel are not

10 evidence. The evidencewill be the evidence.

11 The judges will focus on the evidence and will
12 not impose demerits on Counsel for -- or

13 parties for evidence that is inconsistentin
14 any particular with the opening statements.

15 This proceedingshall follow a

16 pattern. All parties will have an opportunity

17 to make an opening statementdescribingwhat

18 they expect their evidence to show. Licensors

19 and record companieswill then presentthe

20 direct case detailing their proposedrates and

21 terms and the support therefor. After the

22 licensors complete presentationof direct case,

23 the licenseeservices, that's users of the

24 copyright and sound recordings, will presenta

25 rebuttal to the licensors'irectcase. The
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1 licenseeserviceswill then have an opportunity

2 to present the direct case detailing their
3 proposedrates and terms and the support

4 therefor. Following the licenseeservices

5 presentation,the licensorswill have an

6 opportunity to rebut. Counsel will examine

7 their witnessesand all other parties may

8 cross— examine each witness

At the end of the presentationof

10 all the evidence, direct and rebuttal, the

11 parties will have an opportunity to make

12 closing arguments, sometimescalled a

13 summation, in which they state the applicable
14 law and the way they wish the judges to apply

15 that law to the evidence. Closing arguments

16 are currently scheduledfor June 3rd.

17 If you are in this hearing room

18 today, you are undoubtedlyaware that the

19 issues the judges must consider require review

20 of sophisticatedeconomic analyses,

21 confidential businessstrategies,and sensitive
22 financial information.

23 Early in the proceeding, the judges

24 issued a protective order requiring every

25 participant to follow a protocol to maintain
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1 and protect the confidential nature of

2 information the parties rely upon to advocate

3 for a desired royalty rate. The fact that this
4 is an open hearing does not override the

5 parties'eedto protect their confidential
6 businessinformation. Throughout all the early

7 phasesof this proceeding,all parties have

8 diligently marked and edited confidential
9 documentsand have filed copies of all

10 documentsredactedfor public viewing along

11 with restricteddocuments for the judges'2
review.

13 Whenever a party needs to question a

14 witness regarding restricteddocuments, the

15 judges will direct that any person in the

16 hearing room, who has not signed an appropriate
17 nondisclosurecertificate, to leave the room

18 and wait outside until we reopen the room. The

19 first time we will need to close the hearing

20 room is today for the parties to describe

21 adequatelythe range and the import of their
22 evidence they need to discussand display
23 confidential information. The parties will
24 begin with the public opening statement. Then

25 we will close the room and hear the
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1 confidential portions of the parties'pening
2 statements.

Counsel, we understandthat some of

4 you have the realtime transcript streaming to

5 your offices. Be advised that the protective
6 order applies to your office and assurethat no

7 individual is privy to the realtime stream

8 unless that individual is permittedby the

9 protective order. We appreciateyour

10 cooperationin this process.

At this time, I ask that lead

12 counsel for each party -- we'l just go down

13 this side and come back up this side -- lead

14 counsel, pleasestand, identify yourself for

15 the record, introduce your client,
16 representatives,your co-counsel, and staff who

17 are here.

18 MR. POMERANTZ: Good morning, Your

19 Honor.

20 I'm Glenn Pomerantz, and I'l be

21 representingSoundExchangein this proceeding.

22 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Pleasedto

23 meet you, Mr. Pomerantz.

24

25

MR. POMERANTZ: Thank you.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: I think this
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1 is our first meeting.

MR. POMERANTZ: Yeah, and it ' nice

3 to meet all of you.

Let me introduce my colleagueswho

5 are sitting here at counsel table. This is Mr.

6 Kelly Klaus, Melinda LeMoine, Martha

7 Larraondo-Klipper, Jennifer Bryant, Jonathan

8 Blavin, Anjan Choudhury of our office. I

9 skipped Mr. Collin Rushing, who is the general

10 counsel of SoundExchange.

There's other people in the room in

12 the back who are also either with our firm or

13 with SoundExchange,and I'm sure you will get a

14 chance to meet them during the course of the

15 proceeding,but this is probably sufficient for

16 right now.

17

18

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

Mr. Pomerantz, I understoodthat
19 SoundExchangewas going to be sharing table
20 spacewith Mr. Johnson.

21 Is Mr. Johnsonhere?

22 MR. POMERANTZ: I understoodthat,
23 too, and I thought I was sharing some time

24 today with him. So we'l have to wait and see,

25 but I -- I don't know what his scheduleis.
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CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Nor do we.

Thank you.

Mr. Fakler, good morning.

MR. FAKLER: Good morning.

And, Your Honor, my name is Paul

6 Fakler. I'm with the firm of Arent Fox. I am

7 here today on behalf of SiriusXM Radio. I'm

8 working with my colleaguesMartin Cunniff,

9 JacksonToof, as well as Patrick Donnelly, who

10 is the executivevice presidentand general

11 counsel of SiriusXM Radio, as well as Cynthia

12 Greer, vice presidentand associatecounsel.

13

14

15

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

Last but not least row.

MR. STEINTHAL: Kenneth Steinthal
16 from King & Spalding for NPR. We were not

17 expecting to be here at some point today. I'l
18 addresswhy we'e here today. We'e working

19 that out with the participants. I just need a

20 little bit of time.

21 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: I expected

22 that -- well, I wasn't sure how NPR and CBI

23 were going to cope with the fact that your

24 agreementsare still pending, so...
25 MR. STEINTHAL: Correct.
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And that's -- we can do that now or

2 do it later.
CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Let's do it

4 later.
Okay. Someonehere representing

6 CBI?

MR. GOLDEN: Your Honor, David

8 Golden from College Broadcasters. A short

9 statement.

10 CBI is a settledparty. They have

11 jointly moved with SoundExchange— — CBI is a

12 settledparty. They have jointly moved with

13 SoundExchangeto have their settlementadopted

14 as a statutory rates in terms for noncommercial

15 educationalbroadcasters. The settlementwas

16 submittedpursuant to 17 U.S.C. 801(b)(7)(A)

17 That was published for comment and received.

18

19

20

Thank you.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

Now, beginning at this back.

21 Malone.

22 MR. MALONE: Good morning, Your

23 Honor. I'm William Malone. I representtwo

24 parties here. The first is the Intercollegiate
25 BroadcastingSystem, and the second is the
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1 Harvard Radio BroadcastingCompany,

2 Incorporated, the licenseeof station WHRB in

3 Cambridge, Massachusetts. I am unaccompanied.

20

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

Good morning.

MR. JOSEPH: Good morning, Your

7 Honor.

Bruce Josephof Wiley Rein

9 representingthe National Associationof

10 Broadcasters. I am here with a number of

11 colleagues. My partner, Karyn Ablin and

12 Michael Sturm, who will also be involved. I

13 have a number of people in the back, maybe we

14 can introduce them later or I can introduce

15 them now if you would prefer.
CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Let's do it

17 well, go ahead. Let's meet them all.
MR. JOSEPH: Okay. Colleagues

19 ChristopherMills, Leslie Weeks. Along in the

20 back, Jennifer Elgin.

21

22

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Good morning.

MR. JOSEPH: And we have here the

23 associategeneral counsel of NAB, Ms. Suzanne

24 Head and another lawyer who is working with us

25 on behalf of NAB, David Oxenford.
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CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

Mr. Joseph, I think we'e met only

3 once and it was across the street. We

4 haven't -- you haven'tbeen in here in room

5 with us, with this particular panel.

MR. JOSEPH: I have not had that
7 honor, Your Honor. We did meet at another

8 hearing, as I recall.

10

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: That's right.
MR. HANSEN: Good morning, Your

11 Honor.

12 Mark Hansen. With me is John Thorne

13 of Kellogg Huber, representingiHeartRadio. At

14 the table is Tres Williams, Mr. Rob Walls, Ms.

15 Donna Schneider, counsel at iHeartRadio. Mr.

16 Rob over there on the technology table. We

17 will be seeinghis wizardry and we have other

18 colleaguesin the courtroom, which I'm sure you

19 will come to know during the course of the

20 hearing.

21

22

24

Thank you, Your Honor.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

Mr. Rich, we meet again.

MR. RICH: Good morning, Your Honor.

25 Nice to meet JudgesFeder and Strickler.
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I'm Bruce Rich representingPandora
22

2 Media. With me at the front table are my

3 partnersTodd Larson and Ben Marks. Sandwiched

4 in between is Chris Harrison and legal counsel

5 to PandoraMedia. In the far corner as

6 co— counsel is Jacob Ebin, a former colleagueof

7 mine who is now with Akin Gump. And in the

8 back of the courtroom we have severalother

9 lawyers, several of whom I think will stand up

10 and actually take and cross-examinewitnesses,

11 which is wonderful. Reid Collins, David

12 Yolkut, Jennifer Ramos, our trusteeparalegal,
13 and we are pleasedto be here.

15

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

MR. RICH: Oh, let me -- I did

16 neglect another co-counsel,Gary Greenstein,

17 who is also, I think, in the courtroom. There

18 he is. Gary.

19 MR. JOSEPH: Your Honor. I'm sorry

20 to get back up, but I should mention that my

21 colleagueKaryn Ablin will be taking the lead

22 for National Religious Broadcastinglicensing.
23 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: You

24 anticipatedmy question.

25 Thank you, Mr. Joseph.
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Mr. Pomerantz, you may begin your
23

2 public opening statement.

MR. POMERANTZ: Thank you, Your

4 Honor.

Most of the materials that I'l be

6 using I'l put up on the screensfor Your

7 Honor, but there are a few materials that I'l
8 direct your attention to that are confidential,
9 and I will just look at them in the binder. If

10 I may hand the binder to Your Honor and spread

11 them around to other counsel?

12

13

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Certainly.
MR. POMERANTZ: Thank you.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: And you will
15 forgive us if we turn our back to look at the

16 wall.

17 MR . POMERANTZ: I under stand that,
18 Your Honor.

I have — — how many — — can I

20 approach, Your Honor?

21 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Yes, please.
22 You may. Whether you can is a different
23 matter.

24

25

Good morning.

MR. POMERANTZ: I had thought I was
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1 splitting my time with Mr. Johnsonand so what

2 I had anticipated, since you had assignedus

3 two hours of time, and as one of my colleagues

4 had discussedwith Mr. Johnsonwas that he

5 asked for 15 minutes. So I understoodthat I

6 would have an hour and 45 minutes. I will
7 divide that up between this morning's public

8 opening and probably this afternoon's

9 confidential.

24

10 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: We don't know

11 his schedule,but just keep an eye on the

12 floor. He might come in. I don't know him. I

13 haven'tmet him, so...
MR. POMERANTZ: We are both in the

15 same boat. I have not met him either and

16 wouldn't recognizehim; but, hopefully, he'l
17 acknowledgewho he is when he enters the room.

18

19

20

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Okay. Great.

Thank you.

MR. POMERANTZ: At the outset of

21 this proceeding, this board issued a notice

22 with some important questions. You asked about

23 the possibility of establishinga rate that is
24 basedon a percentageof revenue, at least in

25 part. And you askedwhether the differences
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1 among the buyers and sellers in this market

2 might affeet the rates. And you asked several

3 other important questions. And you also issued

4 an early order in this proceedingin which you

5 askedus to provide you with a thick market of

6 agreementsso that you can better understand

7 the market.

25

Over the next five weeks, we will do

9 our best to answer your questionsand we will

10 provide you with that thick market of

11 agreements. And, at the end of the day, we

12 think the evidencewill prove four things. And

13 I'm going to start using the slides now.

14 First, we will prove that the

15 interactive service agreementsare the most

16 reasonablebenchmarks,and we say that for

17 several reasons. Perhaps,most importantly,

18 though, it's becauseconsumerbehavior has made

19 interactive servicesand non-interactive
20 servicescloser than ever.

21 I'm holding my phone. This is how

22 most people today listen to music. Most people

23 listen to music through their phones. And what

24 they are looking for is a series of songs that
25 fits their own personal tastes,and that's what
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1 you get when you listen to your personalized

2 radio stations from Pandoraor iHeart. And

26

3 that's also what you get when you listen to the

4 playlist that you create on Spotify and other

5 interactive services.

So, today, Pandoraand iHeart,

7 statutoryWebcasters,are competing head to

8 head with Spotify and other interactive
9 services for the very same listeners; the ones

10 who want to listen to music on. their mobile

11 devices.

12 Consumersdo not care whether a

13 service is called noninteractiveor

14 interactive. All they care about is accessing

15 music that they like, that fits their own

16 personaldesiresand interests. And if the

17 experiencethat consumershave with interactive
18 and non-interactiveservicesare getting
19 closer. And if the competition between

20 noninteractiveand interactive servicesare

21 getting closer, then economics is going to tell
22 us that the terms of their agreementswould get

23 closer if there wasn't a. statutory license.
24 Now, there still would need to be

25 some adjustment for interactivity. One has it,
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1 the other doesn'. But the interactive service
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2 agreementsare an even better benchmark today

3 than five years ago when this panel had the Web

4 III proceeding.

The second thing that we will prove

6 in this hearing is that the Apple agreements

7 with Sony and Warner for the iTunes radio

8 service also support our rate proposal. When

9 we look at the rates and terms in those

10 agreements,we'l see that they'emuch closer

11 to the rate proposal offered by SoundExchange

12 than the rate proposal offered by the services.
13 And that's regardlessof whether you look at
14 the rates derived from the projections of the

15 parties when they enteredinto the contract or

16 the rates derived from the actual usage and

17 paymentsunder the contractsas they have been

18 performing.

Third, we will show that virtually
20 all of the benchmarkagreementsoffered by all
21 of the participantsuse a greater-of rate
22 structure. These agreementsgenerally require
23 a service to pay the greaterof two or three

24 things. There'susually a minimum. floor. The

25 minimum floor is either on a per streambasis
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1 or it ' on a per subscriberbasis or both. And

2 then it's a greater of that or a specified

3 share of the revenue.
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And the uniform usage of the

5 greater-of formulas and all the market

6 agreementsyou'e going to see tells us

7 somethingvery important. It tells us that if
8 there wasn't a statutory license, the record

9 companiesand the Webcasterswould agree to a

10 greater— of formula becausethat's what'

11 happeningin the marketplace. And that's why

12 our proposal has a greater— of formula.

13 And, fourth, what you will see is
14 that the services rate proposalsare

15 unreasonable. Rate proposalshave been

16 submittednot just by us, but by Sirius,
17 Pandoraand iHeart and NAB. And here is our

18 rate proposal right here. We will see what'

19 the current Web III rates are, and this is our

20 proposal. We continue on from 2016 to 2020,

21 and then we have a greater— of formula where you

22 have either the per-play rate or a sharing of

23 55 percent of the revenue amongst the copyright

24 owners. That's our proposal.

25 Here is the proposal that's offered
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1 by th.e services compared to ours. And I 'm

2 focusing right now on the per-play rates.
3 There is ours. Sirius has -- I'm going to say

4 $ 0.16 becauseit's just easier than all the

5 zeros. I think others might use the same

6 terminology. Hopefully, we can all agree on

7 that.
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Pandora is at 11, and then slightly
9 increasingover time. IHeart is $ 0.05 and so

10 is NAB.

I would note there'sa footnote to

12 Pandora. Pandora joins us in a greater— of

13 formula. They have a lower percentageof

14 revenue that's shared, but they also have a

15 greater— of formula in their proposal.

16 Now, let me try to put these

17 proposalsinto context. This is what the

18 parties are proposing. I'm just comparing the

19 current rates, 2015 CRB rates, to what the

20 per-play rates are that each party proposes in

21 2016. And you can see that we'e proposing a

22 slight uptick. Sirius is proposing a 30

23 percentdecrease. Pandora, more than 50

24 percent. And iHeart and NAB, almost 80

25 percent.
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What these servicesproposalsare
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2 telling us is they believe something is
3 terribly wrong in the market and that drastic
4 measuresneed to be taken to fix it. Well, we

5 strongly disagreewith that, and we think the

6 evidencewill show that there is nothing

7 drastically wrong with the Webcastingmarket.

8 We think the evidence is going to show that
9 that market is already shown significant

10 growth, as well as significant innovation. And

11 we think that the evidencewill show that our

12 proposedbenchmarkagreementsand our rate
13 proposal is exactly what a willing buyer and a

14 willing seller would agree to in a world in

15 which there wasn't a statutory license.
16 Now, I have already introduced to

17 you the members of our team. We'e really
18 pleasedto be her. It's our first time in

19 front of this panel, and it's been an

20 interestingtrip so far. Looking forward to

21 the next five weeks.

22 I failed to mention our technology

23 colleague, Phil Nichols. And you'l -- Mr.

24 Nichols can bring up any documentsthat you

25 need during the course of the proceedings,if
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1 that proves necessary.

And our firm has been privileged to

3 work with SoundExchange,our first time also

4 working with SoundExchange. And while it is
5 our firm's first time in theseproceedings,

6 it's certainly not SoundExchange'sfirst time.

As in prior proceedings,

8 SoundExchangeis here representingartists and

9 record companies, establishedartists, and

10 artists who are still trying to brea.k through,

11 the three major record companies, as well as

12 thousandsof independentlabels. SoundExchange

13 has been proud to serve as the entity that
14 collects the royalties and distributes them to

15 the artists and represent— — and the record

16 companies, and they certainly hope to continue

17 in that role in the future.
18 In the course of our case, you'e
19 going to hear from every constituencyof

20 SoundExchange. Here's a list of our witnesses,

21 and I have organized them by constituents.
22 There will be witnessesfrom SoundExchange,

23 itself. Me'll have representativesfrom each

24 of the major record companies. Me will have

25 representativesfrom four independentrecord
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1 companies. I see three and one record company

2 -- I'm sorry. Independentrecord company

3 agent, Merlin, and you will have artists and

4 artist representatives.You'l hear from all
5 facets of SoundExchange.
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And then you will also hear from a

7 series of experts. This is, obviously, an

8 economically driven exerciseand there'sa

9 number of economists. These are the economists

10 that you will here from, as well as a survey

11 expert, Ms. Butler. And we hope that through

12 the -- our presentationof all of this
13 testimony, we will provide you with a broad and

14 a detailed look into the music streaming

15 market.

The services, of course, are going

17 to have a lot of witnessesof their own. And

18 I'm guessingthat we'e going to have some

19 disagreementsbetween the witnessesas to

20 certain facts. But I actually think there'
21 two facts that every witness is going to agree

22 on, and so let me start with the facts -- and I

23 think every witness is going to agree.

24 Here is the first fact: More and

25 more consumersare using streamingservices to
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1 accessmusic. For decades,people in the

2 industry and probably a lot of us outside the

3 industry kind of referred to music products by

4 their format; vinyl, cassettes,CDs, downloads.
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CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Eight. track.

MR. POMERANTZ: Eight track.

Today, people in the industry don'

8 tend to refer to music productsby format.

9 They tend to refer to it by businessmodel.

10 And the two businessmodels you'e going to

11 hear about are what's called the ownership

12 model and the accessmodel.

13 The ownershipmodel refers to sales
14 of music products that people who own -- you

15 own a CD or you own the download. What you

16 will see is that consumersare moving away from

17 owning music products. This slide shows you

18 what's happeningwith CDs. It's declining year

19 after year after year. This shows 2005 to

20 2013.

21 JUDGE STRICKLER: Mr . Pomerantz, I

22 have a question for you. Which, if any, of

23 your economic expertswill use an accessmodel

24 to describe the value of the proposedrates as

25 opposedto any other model?
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MR. POMERANTZ: I think that
2 ProfessorRubinfeld's course look at the

3 agreementsthat were reachedbetween record

4 companiesand streamingservices. And so to

5 that extent, it's focused on the accessmodel

6 becausestreamingservices, as I'l get to,
7 that is the accessmodel. And then Professor

8 Talley will also be focused on that. I think,

9 actually, all of our experts, becausethey'e
10 focusedon what's happeningin the streaming

11 businessmuch more so than what's happening

12 with compact discs or downloads, will be

13 focused on what. I would call the -- what they

14 call the accessmode.

15 And then downloads has taken a turn.
16 Here is what's happeningwith downloads. It
17 was going up until 2012. And now sales of

18 downloads through the iTunes store, which is
19 the -- by far, the largest retailer of

20 downloads, and other download retailers,
21 they'edeclining. It went down in 2013,

22 further down in 2014, and initial numbers show

23 going down again in 2015.

Now, the accessmodel, as we just
25 discussed,that refers to streamingservices;
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1 both interactive and noninteractive. They'e
2 accessmodels. Becausewhat they do is they

3 allow ready accessto a large catalog of music.

4 You don't own it, but you have accessto it.
5 An.d consumersare moving to the accessmodel in

6 numbers that are absolutelystaggeringand

7 absolutely fast.
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Here is what see in the numbers

9 This is the number of people in America who are

10 using a streamingservice each week. And you

11 can see how it's grown dramatically. The last
12 time we were here on a Webcastingproceeding in

13 2010, 43 million Americans were listening to a

14 streamingservice each week. Now it's in the

15 94 million. That's -- greater than one in four

16 Americans accessmusic every single week

17 through a streamingservice.

18 And the listening hours have gone

19 through the roof. This is how many hours each

20 of those listeners is listening to a streaming

21 service each week. So back in 2010, it was

22 eight hours a week, and now it's over 13 hours

23 a week, on average, that a streaming listener
24 is listening to music through a streaming

25 service.
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It's not just the usage of these

2 services that has changed. What's also changed

3 is the platform they'e using to accessit.
4 What this chart shows is what the movement from

5 using -- listening to a streamingservice with

6 your desktop computer to listening to music

7 with a mobile device. This is Pandora'

8 numbers. And you see just five years ago, in

9 the first quarter of 2010, only 14 percent of

10 Pandora'susers were listening to Pandora

11 through a mobile phone. And now in the middle

12 of 2014, it's 80 percent.

13 The mobile device is becoming the

14 primary platform for listening to music through

15 these streamingservices. Given this dramatic

16 change, it's not surprising that. a lot of

17 companieshave enteredthe streamingbusiness,

18 becausewhen consumersgo there companies

19 follow. Some of the biggest and most powerful

20 companies in America have enteredthe streaming

21 businesssince 2010, since Web III; Google,

22 Apple, Amazon, and so have a lot of others

23 enteredthe business,startups, innovators,

24 both statutoryWebcastersand interactive
25 services
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There'sbeen a lot of entry since
37

2 2010 becausethat's where consumersare going.

3 So, of course, that's where businessesgo. And

4 Pandorastandsout. We'e got to mention

5 Pandora. It's by far and away the most popular

6 noninteractivein this country.

Let's look at Pandora'sgroup. Just

8 Pandora. In 2011, Pandorahad 29 million

9 active listeners. By the beginning of last
10 year, they had 75 million active listeners.
11 And I think Pandorais now recording over 80

12 million active listeners. That's a lot of

13 people in America using Pandorato listen to

14 music.

15 This shows the listening hours.

16 This is listening hours on Pandora. And those

17 numbers, those are billions of hours.

18 So, in 2011, Pandoralisteners
19 listened to 7.8 billion hours of music. And,

20 in 2014, it's over 20 billion hours.

21 And, of course, Pandoradominates

22 the Webcastingspace. This is Pandoradata. I

23 think it may be before the iTunes radio service

24 enteredthe market. But this shows Pandora'

25 share, according to Pandora, at the time this
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1 chart was createdin the last few years, couple

2 of years. And, at that time, they had 77.6

3 percent of the Webcastingmarket. IHeart was

4 secondat 10 percent. And everybody else had

5 smaller amounts.
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And I should also highlight Spotify.

7 Spotify is not a statutoryservice. It has

8 on-demandfeatures. It was not even in the

9 market in the United States in 2010, the last
10 time that it was a Webcastingproceeding. It
11 enteredin 2011.

12 Today, Spotify is by far the largest
13 subscriptionmusic streamingservice in

14 America. It dominatesthe subscriptionmusic

15 streamingspace.

Now, this shift in consumerbehavior

17 has, of course, shifted the revenueof the

18 record companies. What you see in the red on

19 the bottom is streaming. And in just the last
20 three years, it's grown from a billion dollars
21 to $ 1.9 billion. Very dramatic growth. And

22 you can see that in 2014 it now exceedsCD

23 revenue. And you can see that the download

24 revenue is declining.

25 The projectionsare that streaming
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1 revenue is going to quickly overtake the

2 download revenue, and certainly during the next

3 term, the 2016 to 2020 term, streamingwill

4 overtake downloads.

Now, let me go to the second fact
6 that I think where all the witnesseswill agree

7 to, and that's as consumers'isteninghabits

8 evolve, so do the streamingservices. That'

9 just basic economics. Supply and demand. What

10 consumerswant, businessestry to provide.

At the time of the Web III hearing

12 in 2010, the difference betweenwhat a

13 noninteractiveservice was and what an

14 interactive service was seemedpretty clear at

15 the time. An interactive service was

16 on-demand. You can pick what music you want to

17 listen to and it plays it. And noninteractive

18 meant that the service basically picked the

19 music for you, although you could, as a user,

20 influence what they delivered to you. And that
21 was the basic sense.

22 Today, it's not quite so simple,

23 becauseas consumerbehavior has changed, both

24 noninteractiveand interactive serviceshave

25 respondedto it. I think what would be helpful
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1 just to make sure we'e all starting at the

2 same place is to see exactly how Pandoraworks

3 and how iHeart works, the two leading statutory
4 Webcasters;and how Spotify works, the largest
5 non— statutory streamingservice. And you will

6 see how they'e trying to meet what consumers

7 want .
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So here is Pandora. And what

9 happens is when you. start a Pandora, this is
10 the very first thing that you see. And I went

11 to my colleague, Mr. Choudhury back there, and

12 I said Mr. Choudhury, Anjan Choudhury, I said,

13 who is your favorite artist. And whether he

14 actually said this or not, what I wrote down

15 was Katy Perry. And so 1 said, okay, we'e
16 going to use Katy Perry. And when you enter

17 Katy Perry, this is what happenson Pandora.

18 Up in the upper left, you get a Katy Perry

19 radio station. And the very first track that
20 Pandoraplays for you, at least played when we

21 were doing this experiment, was "Last Friday

22 Night." See that there by Katy Perry.

23 And I asked Mr. Choudhury: Do you

24 like "Last Friday Night"'?

25 He said, yeah, I really do. So we
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1 clicked the thumbs up button at the top and

2 that's a messageto the Pandoraalgorithm that
3 Anjan likes "Last Friday Night" by Katy Perry,

4 and the algorithm remembersthat so that the

5 next time Mr. Choudhury comes back and he

6 clicks on his Katy Perry radio station, it will
7 remember that he likes "Last Friday Night" and

8 it will make sure that's in the mix of music

9 that he hears. When that song is over, Pandora

10 plays the next one and it's a song below by

11 Kesha. And it's an artist that Pandora'

12 algorithm thinks is like Katy Perry and that
13 Mr. Choudhury will like it, Kesha -- "Blow" by

14 Kesha.

15 But the algorithm wasn't quite right
16 this time, and Mr. Choudhury said, you know, I

17 don't really like "Blow" by Kesha. I like
18 Kesha, but not "Blow." So it gives him a

19 thumbs down, and that tells the Pandora

20 algorithm don't include this song on my Katy

21 Perry radio station. And so it goes on.

22 And the third track he got was

23 "TeenageDream" by Katy Perry, and this is
24 actually what happenedwhen we did this. So

25 you can see that in the two of the first three
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1 songs when we enteredKaty Perry, Pandora

2 delivered to Mr. Choudhury two Katy Perry

3 tracks. He likes this sounds, so he gives it a

4 thumbs up, and then the next song plays, and

5 it's "Shake It Off" by Taylor Swift. And Mr.

6 Choudhury likes Taylor Swift, but he just
7 doesn'twant to listen to it right now. So he

8 clicks the skip button up at the top, and he

9 says skip this song.

10 Pandora'salgorithm understandsthat
11 he wants to skip it, but not keep it off of his

12 particular radio station, and it goes to the

13 next track. And it's "Tick Tock" by Kesha.

14 This track, he actually likes. He doesn'

15 dislike Kesha. He just didn't like "Blow."

16 And so he gives it a thumbs up and says,

17 Remember to include this in my Katy Perry radio

18 station, and so it goes to the next track.
19 And that's the way that Pandora

20 works when you pick an artist. And you don'

21 just pick one radio station -- I'm sorry

22 one — — you don't get only one radio station.
23 You can have many radio stations. So I asked

24 Mr. Choudhury, who are your other favorite
25 artists? And he gave me a list of others. He
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1 said The Lumineers and Bleachers, and Vampire

2 Weekend, and Fun, all groups.

And what Pandoradoes is it creates

4 a separateradio station for each of those

5 artists, and Mr. Choudhury can influence what

6 is played for him by the thumbs up and thumbs

7 down. So that even if Mr. Choudhury and Mr.

8 Klaus both pick the Lumineers through their
9 thumbs up and thumbs down, they actually have

10 somewhatdifferent radio stations. They would

11 both have the Lumineers, but they'd hear

12 different things basedon what they liked and

13 what they didn't like.
And Pandoraallows you not only to

15 keep -- to create a radio station by the name

16 of an artist, but you can also create a radio

17 station by the things you like to do, the music

18 you like to listen to when you'e engagedin a

19 certain activity, becausewe all have certain
20 music we like in one setting and then maybe

21 different music that you like in a different
22 setting.
23 And so this is what Pandoraallowed

24 Mr. Choudhury to do. He createda radio

25 station for his barbecuesand for his working.
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1 And when he's just relaxing or running or

2 driving, those are all different radio stations
3 that he can influence through the thumbs up and

4 thumbs down.

And so the way this works is when

6 you decide you want to listen to music, you

7 pick up your mobile device, you click on

8 Pandora, and there is your list of radio

9 stations you have created, and you have

10 influenced through your thumbs up and thumbs

11 down. And you decide what do I feel like
12 listening to right now, and you can pick a

13 radio station that you createdthat you

14 specially tailored to your personal tastewith

15 thumbs up and thumbs down and you can create

16 many different stationsdependingon what you

17 want to listen to. That's basically how

18 Pandoraworks.

19 Now, I should say, Pandoraworked

20 that way, largely, back in 2010. But what

21 changedwas this. Now, Pandoragoes

22 everywhere. Back in 2010, people weren't using

23 their mobile devices much to accessPandora.

24 You could, but people weren't doing it. But

25 now 80 percent are using their phone to access
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1 music, and what that means is that you can get

2 Pandoravirtually everywhere.
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Here is a slide. This is a slide
4 that actually was createdby Pandora for -- I

5 thin.k for an investor presentation. And you

6 see Pandoraeverywhere in quotes becausethat'
7 a campaign that Pandorahas established,and

8 they'e telling the consumeryou can get

9 Pandoraeverywhere. When you wake up in the

10 morning, you can listen to whatever station you

11 want to listen to in the morning, and while

12 you'e drive to work, and at work, and when

13 you'e driving home and when you get home in

14 the evening. Pandora is everywhere. You can

15 use it day and night. And this strategy that
16 they have, that people should use Pandora

17 everywhere, is working.

18 As you see, more and more users are

19 spendingmore and more time with Pandora.

20 That's what's happening. And, of course, that
21 means that they'e spending less and less time

22 and less and less money on CDs and downloads.

23 And you see that happening, too.

Now, let me go to iHeart. Let'

25 talk about iHeart. IHeart, which used to be
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1 called Clear Channel, and you'l see in the

2 documentsthat it's mostly referred to as Clear

3 Channel becausethey only changedtheir name, I

4 think, last year. They are the largest owner

5 of terrestrial radio stations in America; AM

6 and FM radio stations. They own. a lot of them

7 all over the country.
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And they then take those radio

9 stationsand they simulcast them. They make

10 them available on the Internet for people to

11 listen to it. There are Terrestrial radio

12 stations on the Internet.
13 So when you go to iHeart, it looks

14 something like this. You can say, I want to

15 listen to country music, which -- what are your

16 country music radio stations?
17 And there are your country music

18 radio stations, and you can pick which one you

19 want to listen to. And so even though you may

20 be in Washington, D.C., you can listen to

21 Dallas or you can listen to Minnesota or New

22 York. You can listen to whatever radio station
23 you want. But iHeart realized this isn't where

24 consumersare going. Consumerswant something

25 more personalizedthan just whatever an AM or
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1 FM radio station is playing.
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And so iHeart did something to their
3 simulcast service. What they did is this.
4 This is the iHeart simulcast service. And you

5 will see at the very top there'sa searchbar

6 there, and you see that I typed in Madonna.

7 And what iHeart does is when you type in

8 Madonna, they immediately take you to radio

9 stations that are now playing Madonna. So I

10 can't see -- but I think it's La Isla Bonita is
11 in -- playing in Los Angeles and Vogue is
12 playing in Savannah,Georgia. And so you can

13 sit there and immediately click on one of those

14 two stations and you will hear that track by

15 Madonna.

16 JUDGE STRICKLER: Can I interrupt
17 you a second, Mr. Pomerantz?

18 Will your witnessestestify that
19 when you click on the now playing button that
20 you join the song in progress?

21 MR. POMERANTZ: Yes, I believe

22 that's how it works. I believe that's how it
23 works.

24 And so what this allows the users to

25 do is to find an artist that they'e interested
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1 in, enter the name, and immediately be sent to

2 where that track is playing. So it's almost

3 on-demand. Almost on-demand.
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Now, iHeart also has a customized

5 radio service, and this is an example of its
6 customizedradio service. So you could

7 create -- Mr. Choudhury could go to iHeart's
8 customizedservice and do exactly what I just
9 showed you he did on Pandorawhere you can

10 start with Katy Perry and through your thumbs

11 up and thumbs down create a Katy Perry radio

12 station and all of the other radio stations.
13 Now, iHeart also offers customizedservice.

Now, let me talk about Spotify.

15 Spotify is not statutory. It has a premium

16 on-demandservice. It has a free on-demand

17 service, something it calls mobile shuffle, and

18 it's custom radio service. Let me start with

19 its on-demandservice. The on-demandservice,

20 -- if we can go to the next slide -- this is
21 what happens: You can create a Katy Perry

22 in Spotify, you wouldn't call it a radio

23 station. You'd call it a playlist. And what

24 you can is create a Katy Perry playlist. And,

25 basically, what you can do is pick your
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1 favorite Katy Perry tracks and you can list
2 them in whatever order you want, and if you

3 want to put some other artists that you like

4 along with Katy Perry, you can add them to the

5 list, as well. And that's your Katy Perry

6 playlist.
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And then you can do the same thing

8 for those other artists, Lumineers, and

9 Bleachers, and Fun, and you can create a

10 barbecuemix and you can createa driving mix,

11 and you can createall of those.

12 Now, it's a little different because

13 you'e creating -- you'e picking the

14 particular tracks. But the way consumersuse

15 it is very similar. They pick up their phone

16 and they say, I want to listen to Katy Perry.

17 I'm going to go to my Katy Perry playlist. For

18 Pandora, you would go to your Katy Perry radio

19 station. Not exactly the same, but very close

20 from the consumerexperience.

21 Same thing with barbecuemusic or

22 driving music. Again, not exactly the same,

23 but the consumersare creatingplaylists,
24 they'e creating radio stations, and that's how

25 they'egetting to their music so that they
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1 have a group of songs that's tailored to what

2 they love. That's what Spotify is doing with
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3 its on-demandservice.

Now, the on-demandservice has a

5 paid componentwhere you pay a subscriptionand

6 a free subscription. If you pay the

7 subscriptionwhich is 9.99 a month right now,

8 it's come down. It was 15.99, 12.99. Right

9 now, Spotify's price is 9.99. What you get is
10 no advertisementsand you can list.en to it on

11 your desktop or on your mobile device.

12 You can also use Spotify's on— demand

13 service for free. There's two significant
14 differences. One is you have to listen to ads,

15 and the other is you can't take it on your

16 mobile device. It's only available on your

17 desktop. So that's Spotify's on— demand

18 services.

19 Now, Spotify also has other services

20 and they have a custom radio service. This is
21 basically exactly the same as iHeart and

22 Pandora. You can see the same playlist. It'
23 radio, so it's not on— demand. You basically
24 say what -- who you want, Spotify will deliver

25 the -- that artist or music from artists who
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1 they think are similar to that artist, and you

2 can thumbs up and thumbs down and create radio

3 station exactly the same way you do on Pandora

4 and iHeart. So Spotify also offers a custom

5 radio service to its customers.

And then., last, Spotify has what it
7 calls its mobile shuffle service. And this is
8 a new service. It came out in December of

9 2013. And what it does is it allows you to, on

10 your phone, use something that is sort of in

11 between fully on—demand and customizedradio.

12 What you can do is you can pick certain songs

13 or certain albums and you have to have a long

14 enough list. So I don't remember an exact

15 list, but something like an hour or more of

16 songs. And then Spotify will shuffle those

17 songs. So you don't kn.ow which one you'e
18 going to get in which order, but you'e picked

19 what songs you listen to. And if you don'

20 pick enough songs, then Spotify fills in the

21 gaps with songs that they think you will like
22 basedon the songs that you selected. And

23 that's a shuffle service. It's also free, and

24 it's available on your mobile device.

25 So those are examples — — I'e only
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1 given you three examples. There', obviously,

2 a lot more statutory servicesout there and a

3 lot more interactive servicesout there, but I

4 have given you examples of the three largest
5 players out there in the market.
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So I would now like to turn to the

7 benchmarksthat you'e going to hear about in

8 this proceeding. Here are the benchmarks,at

9 least the primary benchmarksthat are proposed

10 by each of the participants. We point to the

11 interactive agreement,the agreementbetween

12 record companiesand interactive servicesas

13 our primary benchmarks. We believe also that
14 the agreementbetweenApple and Sony and Apple

15 and Warner fully corroborateour benchmark.

16 IHeart primarily points to its
17 agreementwith Warner. It also points to

18 agreementsit has with some indies. Pandora

19 focuses on its agreementwith Merlin and that'
20 its primary benchmark. NAB does not offer any

21 agreementas a benchmarkof other ways of

22 trying to get to a rate proposal. And SiriusXM

23 also does not proposeany agreementas a

24 benchmark.

25 So I would like to start with our
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1 benchmark, the interactive agreements. You

2 will hear witnessesfrom major and independent

3 record companies, and they are going to

4 describe for you those agreementsand the rates
5 and terms in those agreements. They'e going

6 to explain to you the basic economics of the

7 interactive service agreements. They'e going

8 to explain to you why they agreed to those

9 terms and they'e going to explain to you their
10 expectations,what they thought when they were

11 going into the deal.
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12 They'e also going to explain to you

13 how the deals turned out. Did it meet their
14 expectationsor not?

15 And they'l explain to you why those

16 interactive agreementsexplainedhow they would

17 look at a deal between that record company and

18 a Webcasterif there wasn't a statutory
19 license. It tells you something about the way

20 the parties look at an agreementthat is
21 reachedin the marketplace.

22 ProfessorRubinfeld will then take

23 those facts, what the witnessessay and the

24 agreements,and he will do two things: He will

25 explain why the interactive service agreements
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1 provide a reasonablebenchmark in this
2 proceeding, and he will also calculate rates
3 for the statutory license basedon those

4 agreements.

I'm going to put the calculations to

6 one side and we'l deal with that this
7 afternoon, becauseyou'l have to get into some

8 confidential information.

But ProfessorRubinfeld will say

10 that there's three reasonswhy he thinks that
11 the interactive service agreementsare good

12 benchmarksfor Your Honor -- Your Honor to

13 consider in this proceeding. The first reason

14 is that there'sa wide range of interactive
15 service agreements,and that ensuresthat the

16 benchmarkis representative.
17 Up on the screen is a list of all of

18 the agreementsthat ProfessorRubinfeld

19 consideredin establishinghis interactive
20 service benchmark. And what you will see from

21 this list is that it involves big record

22 companiesand independentrecord companies.

23 You will see there is agreementswith Universal

24 Music, the largest record company. And there'
25 also agreementsthat ProfessorRubinfeld
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1 consideredwith Beggars, and with Secretly

2 Canadian, independentrecord companies.
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And you will also see that he

4 considereda broad range of streamingservices.

5 You have Spotify, a very now large established
6 service. You have servicesoffered by big

7 corporationslike Google and Amazon. You have

8 niche players like ClassicalArchives, and you

9 have small startups like Yonder.

10 And this depth and this breadthof

11 agreementsprovides you with the confidence

12 that the rates and terms are truly reflective
13 of what. happensin a marketplace. It's not

14 just a one-off aberration. You have confidence

15 that no one agreementis aberrationalwhen you

16 can look at such a broad range of agreements

17 that are reachedin the back and forth of the

18 marketplace.

19 Now, the secondreasonthat
20 ProfessorRubinfeld thinks that the interactive
21 service agreementsare the most reasonable

22 benchmarkis becausethey'e less affectedby

23 the statutory license. These serviceswant to

24 offer some on-demandfeatures, as well as

25 others; and, therefore, you can't just rely on
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1 the statutory license. And I don't think it'
2 going to be disputed in this hearing that this
3 gives a big advantageto the interactive
4 service agreementsbecausethey are not nearly

5 as affectedby the statutory license. They

6 aren't affectedby the shadow of the statutory
7 license in the way that the benchmarksare that
8 are offered by the participants.

Here is some testimony from their
10 experts in this matter about this issue.
11 ProfessorShapiro is on the top and he is the

12 economist for Pandora. And he says: "I agree

13 with ProfessorRubinfeld that agreementssigned

14 by statutoryWebcastersare influencedmore by

15 the availability of the statutory license than

16 are agreementssigned by interactive services.
17 ProfessorsFischel and Lichtman are the experts

18 for iHeart. They said: "Admittedly, there is
19 a drawback associatedwith relying on evidence

20 from noninteractivelicensing agreements.

21 These agreementswere negotiatedin the shadow

22 of the statutory rate."
23 The third reasonProfessorRubinfeld

24 thinks that the interactive servicesprovide

25 the best benchmark is becausethe differences
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1 between an interactive service agreementand a
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2 noninteractive-- an agreementthat a

3 noninteractiveservice have reachedcan be

4 quantified and accountedfor. And you will

5 see there will be a lot of discussionabout the

6 interactivity interests. And I know Your

7 Honors are familiar with that. It can be

8 quantified and it can be accountedfor, and

9 ProfessorRubinfeld does so. And we'l discuss

10 that a little bit more this afternoon in the

11 confidential portion.
12 Now, I do want to responddirectly
13 to some of the issues that Your Honors raised
14 in your Web III remand decision about the

15 interactive service benchmarkthat was used in

16 that case -- in that proceeding. There you

17 raised four concernsabout the interactive
18 service benchmark, and we think we have

19 addressedeach of those concerns. It's up on

20 the screenbehind you.

21 We analyzed the ad— supportedside of

22 the streamingmarket. We incorporatedthe

23 indie deals into our benchmarkanalysis. We

24 basedour proposal on the most recent year of

25 data to account for the downward trends in the
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1 rates. And we supportedour interactivity
2 adjustmentwith a conjoint survey, not a
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3 hedonic regression.

Let me explain the moment on the

5 conjoint survey. It was designedby Professor

6 Daniel McFadden, and you will meet. Professor

7 McFadden in this proceeding. Professor

8 McFadden won the Nobel Prize in economics for

9 his work related to consumerchoice. And it'
10 that expertisethat we'e drawing upon in the

11 conjoint survey. His conjoint survey analyzes

12 how consumersvalue interactivity and other

13 featuresof a streamingservice. We'l present
14 that evidence in our direct case. You will
15 hear from ProfessorMcFadden later this week.

16 Now, the serviceshave raised
17 challengesto our reliance on the interactive
18 service agreements. Quite a lot of challenges

19 I don't have time to addressall of them this
20 morning, but I do want to go through one of

21 them. We'l get to the rest of them during the

22 course of the next five weeks.

23 The servicers'conomistsargue that
24 the interactive service agreementswere not

25 negotiatedin an effectively or workably
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1 competitivemarket. One expert says

2 effectively competitive, the other one says

3 workably competitive. I think they both agree

4 that they are referring to the same thing. And

5 they tell you that becausethe market was not

6 workably competitive or effectively
7 competitive, you should just disregardthose

8 agreements.

Now, the board has mentioned

10 effective competition in some of its earlier
11 decisions. I don't think the board has

12 provided what they would consider to be a hard

13 and fast definit:ion what effective competition

14 is. But you certainly have given us some

15 indication of some factors that should be

16 considered. Whether the buyer or the seller
17 there is a pricing. Whether negotiations
18 between the parties are merely superfluousor

19 whether they'e really meaningful. Whether the

20 negotiatedrates approximatea monopoly.

21 Whether there are sufficient competitive

22 factors in the marketplace. Those are examples

23 of some of the factors.
We will show you that no matter what

25 definition you apply of effective competition
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1 or workable competition or competition, we will

2 show you that the market for licensing

3 recordings through interactive services is
4 competitive.
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Here is the basic premise of the

6 servicers'rgument.They say streaming

7 servicesmust have the catalogsof the three

8 major record companiesto be successful. You

9 need to have all three catalogs, the three

10 major ones. And they say a market can'

11 possibly be competitive if there are must-have

12 subscribers. That's their argument.

13 Well, we don't dispute, at least,
14 the first part. That is to say we think the

15 major record companiesmay be must— have

16 suppliers for at least some streamingservices

17 But we very strongly disagreewith the second

18 part of it. Just becausethere are must— have

19 suppliersdoes not mean that the market is
20 automaticallynot competitive. You have to

21 look at the market. You have to look at the

22 factors in the market and see how the market is
23 operating. You can't just jump to that
24 conclusion.

25 Now, when Universal acquired EMI,
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1 which was then the fourth major record company,

2 when Universal acquired EMI back in 2012, the

3 transactionwas reviewed by the FTC. And

4 Universal told the FTC that the major record

5 companiesare must— haves for some streaming

6 services. I was counsel for Universal in that
7 transaction, in that merger, and Professor

8 Rubinfeld was Universal'seconomist in that
9 transaction.

10 What ProfessorRubinfeld believed

11 back in 2012 was that the majors were

12 must-havesfor most streamingservices, and he

13 also believed that the market facts showed that
14 the licensing for streamingserviceswas

15 competitive. Was very competitive. And he

16 still believes both of those things today. The

17 majors are must—haves.and the market is
18 competitive. And he believes those things for

19 several reasons. And I'l just briefly mention

20 a few of them now and then we'l hear testimony

21 over the course of the next week or two.

22 First, the record companies'bility
23 to set rates for interactive services is
24 significantly affected by the free alternatives
25 that are available to consumers. Consumers
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1 have a lot of free alternativesavailable to

2 them. One of those free alternativesis
3 Internet piracy, and we 'e all heard about the

4 ability to get music for free from pirate
5 services that don't pay for the music. And

6 this has, obviously, greatly affected consumer

7 demand for legitimate music when so much

8 illegitimate music is available.
This is what has happenedto the

10 revenueof the record industry in the last 20

11 years. And what you see is that it hit its
12 peak in 1999 and has been declining ever since.

13 And in 1999 is when NAPSTER enteredthe market.

14 And what has happenedto the record industry is
15 that sales of legitimate music has gone down

16 becauseso many people are turning to the

17 illegitimate music that are available through

18 pirate sources.

19 And so for a music distributor like
20 Wal— Mart or like the iTunes downloads or like
21 Spotify subscriptionservices, they'e all had

22 to lower their retail price to compete with an

23 illegitimate competitor, someonewho's offering
24 exactly the same product, the same music, but

25 for free, and they don't have to pay for it.
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And Spotify is an example. Started

2 out with a 15.99 subscriptionprice. Consumers

3 weren't going there becausethey can get the

4 music for free. So they lowered it to 12.99

5 and then 9.99. That's what it is today. And,

6 of course, as the retail price has gone down,

7 the record companieshave to lower their price
8 in order to -- in order to -- for the

9 distributors to lower their prices to the

10 consumer. And that's what's happened. Record

11 companieshave lowered their prices to

12 distributors, including to interactive
13 streamingservicesbecauseof what's going on

14 at the consumer level. Consumerdemands.

15 And ProfessorShapiro, Pandora'

16 expert economist, he agreeswith that. Here'

17 what he said in his testimony. He said: "The

18 rates paid by interactive serviceshave been

19 falling as a result of competition from

20 piracy." That greatly affects what record

21 companiescan do as the wholesale level, at the

22 price that they'e charging to interactive
23 services. They are not a price maker.

24 There' another free alternativeout

25 there and that's extremely popular, and that'
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1 YouTube. YouTube is being used as a music

2 streamingservice by millions and millions and

3 millions of Americans. You can go onto

4 YouTube, find a video of Journey'sgreatest
5 hits and listen to all of journey's greater
6 hits for free, and there'svery little that the

7 record companiescan do about it becausethat
8 music has been uploadedby a user. And under

9 the DMCA Safe Harbors, it's very little the

10 record companiescan do about it.
So that's another free alternative

12 that consumerscan access,and that affects
13 what the record companiescan charge its
14 streamingservices.
15 Now, second, what you'e going to

16 see is documents that. show the negotiations
17 between a record company and an interactive
18 service, Spotify. And what -- or other

19 interactive services. And you'e going to see

20 those documentsdo not show where a must-have

21 supplier is dictating the price to the

22 streamingservices. That is not what happens

23 in the real world, and that tells you that
24 there is competition going on even though a

25 catalog of a major is a must have for a

(866) 448 — DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 04-27-2015

1 streamingservice
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The servicesdo push back. The

3 servicesdo get concessions. And I will review

4 a few examples of that this afternoonbecause

5 they'e confidential documents.

Third, what ProfessorRubinfeld will
7 point out is that subscriptions— — streaming

8 servicesare absolutelycritical to the

9 long— term health of the record companies.

10 Record companiesmake more money when a user

11 subscribesto Spotify than if they stream from

12 Pandoraor if they take it for free from a

13 pirate service or from YouTube. It's in their
14 interest to have subscribersgo to Spotify.

15 And so yes, of course, Spotify needs the

16 catalogsof the majors, but the majors also

17 need Spotify. It's the largest subscription
18 streamingservice out there and it's vital to

19 the survival of the record industry. We want

20 consumersto subscribeso they'epaying for

21 music insteadof taking it for free. And, of

22 course, Spotify — — that gives Spotify

23 bargainingpower. There is bargainingpower on

24 both sides of that negotiation.
25 And, finally, even if the majors do
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1 have some bargainingpower, whatever that is,
2 becauseof their must-havestatuswith a

3 streamingservice, they would have the same

4 bargainingpower with respect to a

5 noninteractiveservice in the hypothetical

6 world where there isn't a statutory license.
7 Becausethe major catalogs -- the catalogsof

8 the majors are also -- are also going to be

9 must—haves for the noninteractiveservices. If
10 Pandorawere missing all of Universal's record

11 company, that would affect Pandora. They'e
12 going to want Universal, and, therefore, it'
13 going to affect the negotiation that Universal

14 has with Pandora.

15 Let me briefly turn, if I may, to

16 some of the other benchmarksthat you'e going

17 to see, and that was the interactive service

18 benchmarks. I want to talk briefly about

19 Apple. Apple's agreementswith Sony and

20 Warner, that Your Honors know about because

21 there has been some litigation of those in the

22 motion practice, they are anotherbenchmark.

ITunes is ad support, iTunes radio,

24 just like Pandora, just like iHeart. And it'
25 not on demand, just like Pandoraand just like
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1 iHeart. So they can't distinguish it on that
2 basis like they try to do with the interactive
3 services

But even though the iTunes radio

5 service is ad supportedand not on-demand, its
6 rates and terms in the agreementsare much

7 closer to what SoundExchangeis proposing than

8 what the servicersare proposing. And that
9 shows you what's happeningin the market. And

10 if that's going to be true no matter when you

11 look at what Apple and Sony and Warner thought

12 going into the deal, that is what their
13 expectationswere or whether you look at it in

14 terms of what actually occurred. Either way,

15 the rates that are derived are much closer to

16 what SoundExchangeis proposing than what

17 servicersare proposing.

18 And I don't think the servicersare

19 challenging the Apple agreementas being

20 reachedin an environmentwhere there wasn'

21 effective competition. The record companies

22 are sitting across the table from Apple. No

23 one has a lot of bargainingpower when you sit
24 across the table from Apple, and particularly
25 the record companies,becauseApple is their
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1 largest customer.

So there is no -- I don't believe

3 there'sgoing to be any other argument that
4 those agreementslacked effective competition.

5 We'l look at the economicsof those deals

6 later this afternoon.

IHeart is going to turn to the

8 agreementthat they have with Warner. And,

9 again, I'l save some of my comments about that
10 deal for this afternoonbecausewe should put

11 that with the deal terms. But what you'e
12 going to see in the iHeart deal -- I just want

13 to get a few points right now. You'e going to

14 see that iHeart provided Warner with a certain
15 piece of considerationthat it couldn'

16 possibly provide to all of the other record

17 companies. It couldn'. It's the way that the

18 considerationworks. It can only be provided

19 to less than all the record companies. And,

20 yet, the rates that were agreedupon were

21 specifically derived from that unique or

22 unusual consideration.

23 Since iHeart can't provide that same

24 considerationto all other record companies,

25 you really can't look at that deal as something
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1 that is a basis for an industry— wide license

2 for a license that would apply to all record

3 companiesequally becauseall record companies

4 have to license their music pursuant to the

5 statutory license.
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Second, there is no question that
7 the shadow of the statutory license greatly
8 affected the negotiationsbetween iHeart and

9 Warner. IHeart and Warner both knew that if
10 they didn't reach a deal, iHeart could just
11 keep using Warner's music pursuant to the terms

12 of the statutory license. And that policy
13 makes a fundamentaldifference in the dynamic

14 of the negotiation.

15 Third, you will see that iHeart's
16 expertsmade a very serious error in the way

17 that they calculatedand analyzed the deal.

18 They only looked at a portion of the streams

19 of Warner streams that are used under the deal,

20 what they call the incrementalstreams. And

21 we'l show that that's not the right way to

22 look at it, and you really have to look at all
23 the streamsand all of the consideration

24 provided in this agreement.

25 And then there'sPandora'sdeal with
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1 Merlin. That's their primary benchmark.

2 Merlin is an agent for a group of independent

3 labels. They negotiateon their behalf with

4 digital services, and they — — the agreement

5 betweenMerlin and Pandorawas signed on June

6 16th, 2014, four or five months after this
7 proceedingstartedand just a few months before

8 the direct testimony was submitted. And before

9 this deal was reached, Pandorawas using the

10 music of the labels of Merlin pursuant to

11 what's called the Pure Play. And the Pure Play

12 agreementis an agreementthat was reached

13 under WebcastersSettlementAct. I understand
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14 this is not the time to engage in any legal
15 arguments, so I will put that aside, and what

16 we have proposed is simply to provisionally
17 admit evidence relating to the Pandora— Merlin

18 deal and the Pure Play deal so that Your Honors

19 can later considerwhether the Pandora-Merlin

20 deal can even be consideredas a benchmark in

21 this proceedingunder the Webcaster's

22 settlement.

23 But what you will see is that, on

24 the facts, is that Pandora' relying just on

25 one agreement. They'e not relying on any
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1 agreementbetweena service and a major record

2 company. They'e not relying on any agreement

3 betweena record company and any service other

4 than Pandora. Just Pandoraand Merlin. And

5 what we'e going to show you is that is not a

6 representativeagreementand you will not have

7 the same confidence that what you'e really
8 seeing is something that would reflect market

9 rates.
10 Third, if the Pandora-Merlin

11 agreementis admissible, you'l see how greatly
12 affected the terms are by the Pure Play

13 agreement. You will see that the Pure Play

14 agreementhas dictatedmany of the terms,

15 including the core economicsof the deal.

And, finally, you'l hear Pandora'

17 witnessestalk a lot about somethingcalled
18 steerup. And what they will say is that they

19 can manipulate that Pandoraalgorithm so that
20 it will deliver to Mr. Choudhury only music

21 that's cheaperthan other music, so that they

22 can save money. So he will get music that
23 costs them less. And they think that because

24 they can steer to cheapermusic, that the

25 record companies, in turn, will therefore
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1 negotiate lower rates in order to avoid such

2 steering. And that's not what's going to

3 happen if there wasn't a statutory license.
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First, the record companieswould

5 negotiateprovisionals so that they aren'

6 discriminatedagainstby some steeringwithin

7 the algorithm. But, also, Pandora is going to

8 get slammed in the marketplace.

What do you think iHeart and iTunes

10 radio is going to do if the world starts
11 knowing that Pandorais steering towards music

12 that costs them less?
13 Think of the advertisingcampaign.

14 Pandoragives you the cheapestmusic. We give

15 you what you want to hear. What's that going

16 to do?

17 If the consumerknows that Pandora

18 is delivering music basedon price and not

19 basedon taste, what's going to happen in the

20 marketplace?

21 And you know theseare competitors.

22 They'e going to go after each other. So I

23 think you will find that steering is not a

24 super bullet for many reasons.

25 Let me briefly talk about NAB. We
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1 didn't offer any benchmarkagreement. Instead,

2 what NAB does is they point to two different
3 things out there in the market -- not in the

4 market, out there in the world, that they think
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5 create a zone of reasonableness;low end and a

6 high end. And the first thing they point to is

7 terrestrial rating. And what they say, and

8 through their economist, ProfessorKatz, is
9 that terrestrial radio is a lower bound for the

10 zone of reasonableness,and that lower bound is
11 zero. And the reasonwhy it's zero is because

12 over— the— air broadcasterspay zero for use of

13 sound recordings. But we all know why they pay

14 zero. It's becausethe U.S. copyright laws do

15 not provide a public performanceright for

16 sound recordingsused over the air. So radio

17 stationsare paying zero becausethat's the

18 law, not becausesome market has driven it to

19 zero. So the terrestrial radio doesn't tell us

20 anything about what a willing buyer and willing
21 seller would agree to if there wasn't a

22 statutory license.
23 And then they look to the SDARS II

24 decision to create, I think, the upper bound of

25 their zone of reasonableness.But the SDARS II
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1 decision, the decision of this board, it's not

2 a market agreementbetweena willing buyer and

3 a willing seller. And it's not only a decision

4 of this board, but it's a decision of this
5 board under an entirely different standardthan

6 what applies in this proceeding. And it's not

7 only a decision of this board under a different
8 standard,but it's a decision about an entirely
9 different type of service that involves very

10 different economic considerationsof satellite
11 radio.
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12 Now, I have not yet directly
13 addressedissuesof promotion and substitution;
14 but, of course, the statuteasks you to

15 consider those things. It's hard wired right
16 into the statute. But the market has already

17 given us the answer to promote substitution
18 becauseeconomistson both sides will say, and

19 this board has previously said, that benchmark

20 agreementsreachedwithin the marketplace

21 already factor the promotional and

22 substitutionaleffects into the terms of those

23 agreements. The record companiesand the

24 services think about those things when they set
25 the economic terms.
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So the promotional and
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2 substitutionaleffects are already in the terms

3 of the interactive service agreementsthat we

4 rely on, and they'e already in the agreements

5 betweenApple and Warner and Sony. And they'e
6 already in the Pandora-Merlindeal and the

7 iHeart/Warnerdeal. But the servicersare

8 raising one other argument that I think will

9 cause some additional evidence to come in

10 beyond just the agreementsthemselves. What

11 they say is that statutoryWebcastersare more

12 promotional than interactive services like
13 Spotify; and, therefore, you need to make

14 anotheradjustment from the interactive
15 services to adjust for the fact that the

16 Webcastersare more promotional.

17 Well, we will show that they are

18 just wrong. Rememberwhat their game plan is.
19 RememberPandora'sgame plan. Remember,

20 they'e going to put Pandoraeverywhere.

21 They'e going to make sure that consumersare

22 listening to Pandoramorning, noon and night.

23 This is not a game plan for

24 promotion. It's not a game plan to say to

25 users of Pandorago buy a CD or go by a
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1 download. It's not saying go subscribeto

2 Spotify. What this is saying is substitutefor

3 all those things becausewe'e going to give

4 you the music you want morning, noon and night.

5 Now, of course, we all know that it's working.

6 Pandora is really, really popular. And so

7 you'e getting 20 billion hours of music

8 streamedthrough Pandorajust last year.

There's a particular aspectof

10 promotion that the evidence from the servicers
11 almost entirely miss and that's -- and

12 promotion and substitution, and that is the

13 effect of a Webcasteron the revenuestream to

14 Spotify and to other interactive services.
15 Does Pandoraand iHeart substitute
16 for Spotify and other interactive services?
17 They want you to focus on CDs and

18 downloads, and that's relevant, but so is the

19 substitutionof the revenuestream that would

20 otherwise go to Spotify and to other

21 interactive services.
22 We asked our survey expert, Sarah

23 Butler, to look at that question, to look at
24 whether Pandora is substituting for Spotify,

25 for interactive services, for FM radio. What
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1 is it substituting for?
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And Ns. Butler has done a lot of

3 market studies, and you will meet her in our

4 case. And she designeda survey that asked

5 thesequestionsabout -- to Pandorausers.

6 And, by the way, she did the same thing to

7 iHeart.

The first question: Imagine you can

9 no longer listen to music on Pandora. Which of

10 the following statementsrepresentswhat you

11 would be most likely to do?

12 And if they picked the substitution,
13 the substitutenumber one, she asked Question

14 3. You said you would find a substitutefor

15 the music you listen to on Pandora. Which of

16 the following, if any, would be your most

17 preferredsubstitutefor Pandora? And she then

18 gives them 24 different alternatives.
What would you do if Pandoradidn'

20 exist? What would you do to satisfy your music

21 interest and needs?

22 And this -- these are the results.
23 The number one answer was Spotify. Almost 20

24 percentof one in five said they would go to

25 Spotify, and you can see where the rest of this
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1 comes out. And what this tells you is that

2 Pandora is substituting for Spotify and for a

3 bunch of other alternativesthat are more
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4 valuable to the record industry than Pandora.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Do you know, Mr.

6 Pomerantz,whether she will testify with regard

7 to the first line with regard to Spotify,

8 breaking down that 19.7 percentbetween free

9 Spots.f v and pa1.d Spotsf y?

10 MR. POMERANTZ: No, she will not.

11 But what you will have is the conversion from

12 free to paid by Spotify. Spo'tify is what '

13 what is referred to in the industry as a free

14 service. And like in other industries, what

15 the concept is, is get people into the free,
16 and then upsell them to the paid service. And

17 there is a percentage. I believe it's 20

18 percent, in that range, where Spotify is
19 converting users from free to paid. So the

20 concept here of Spotify and of the premium

21 model that's not just Spotify, but many

22 streamingservices, get them into free, get

23 them to really like the service, don't love the

24 ads, want to take it mobile, and so you upsell

25 them to the paid service.
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JUDGE STRICKLER: Will Ms . Butler
79

2 testify that all that information about that

3 conversion from free to paid was given to the

4 individuals in the survey, or no?

MR. POMERANTZ: I don't believe it
6 was. I can't be certain. I believe it was not

7 provided to them. So this is basedupon what

8 the consumer-- I should -- I think it was

9 basedon what the consumerwould have

10 understoodabout Spotify. So you know what

11 you'e heard about Spotify. If you haven'

12 heard about it, you may not know about it.
13 Okay. So you have to identify what

14 you'e heard about it. So this would not be

15 asked of someonewho has not heard about

16 Spotify. It would only be asked of someonewho

17 has, and you'e going to get a list here of the

18 ones you actually heard, and that's the way she

19 organizedher study.

20 But -- and what's important about

21 that conversion, methodologyof -- or model of

22 Spotify is that when a record company enters

23 into a contract with premium service like
24 Spotify, it builds into the contract conversion

25 incentives. So if Spotify -- unless -- this is
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1 not the actual terms, so I shouldn't disclose

2 it anyway. But if Spotify only converts, let'
3 say, 5 percent or less of its free users to

4 pay, your per-play rate, let's say, is $ 0.30.

5 But if you convert five or 10 percent, it goes

6 down to $ 0.28. If you convert 10 to 20

7 percent, it goes down to $ 0.26.

80

And so what the record companiesare

9 trying to do is to incentivize Spotify to move

10 users from free to paid. It's also in

11 Spotify's self interest to do so. But the

12 record companiesare building an additional
13 economic incentive into their contracts for

14 premium services.
15 JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank you.

MR. POMERANTZ: We will also offer
17 testimony from Dr. Blackburn that is relevant

18 to the issue of substitutionof programming and

19 promotion. He analyzeddata that was provided

20 by iHeart. IHeart examined the same data and

21 they had -- and they offered direct testimony

22 on it from ProfessorDanifer. Professor

23 Danifer then realized that he actually had not

24 analyzedthe data correctly, and that -- and so

25 he went back and he correctedhis testimony.
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1 And when he correctedhis testimony, he

2 specifically said that the data, now that he

3 realizes it, doesn't show any meaningful

4 difference between the promotional effects of

5 noninteractiveservicesand the promotional

6 effects of interactive services. And so he

7 submittedhis correctedtestimony to correct

8 that. Very important correction.

Thereafter, iHeart decidedhis

10 testimony doesn't really help us, so they

11 withdrew ProfessorDanifer's testimony.

12 So we asked Dr. Blackburn to go

13 analyze the same data, and he did. He did a

14 regressionanalysis of the same data; and, of

15 course, he came to the same conclusion. The

16 data does not show a meaningful difference

17 between the promotional effects of a

18 noninteractiveservice and the promotional

19 effect of an interactive service.
20 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Mr . Pomerantz,

21 you might want to know you'e been going for an

22 hour and ten minutes.

23 MR. POMERANTZ: Okay. I will try to

24 wrap it up.

25 The participants'wn behavior also
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1 shows the -- somethingabout the promotional

2 and substitutionaleffects of these services.
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3 What the servicersare going to say is that
4 record companiestry to get their music played

5 on terrestrial radio, and that shows that
6 terrestrial radio is promotional. They spent a

7 lot of money to try to convince terrestrial
8 radio to play new releases. They put a lot of

9 effort behind it, but that -- and that's true.
10 Other companiesdo try to get terrestrial radio

11 stations to play their music. And many people

12 at record companiesbelieve that that helps to

13 sell CDs and downloads. We'e not here to

14 claim otherwise.

15 But that evidenceactually proves

16 exactly the opposite of what the servicersare

17 using it for. Becausewhat you will see is the

18 record companiesdo not spend a lot of money or

19 put a lot of resourcesto try to get Pandoraor

20 iHeart to play the music. So if the

21 expenditureof money and resourcesshows what

22 the record companiesthink, then their own

23 behavior would show that they don't think it'
24 very promotional to have Pandoraplay their
25 musj C.
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Now, I handed you a binder with some
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2 documents in it. I just want to point you

3 quickly to the first two documents. And these

4 are documentsthat both come from Sony decks,

5 internal decks here. And just take a quick

6 moment to scan Tab 1 and Tab 2.

And I'l tell you that the way I

8 read Tab 1 and Tab 2 is that they'e
9 fundamentallyinconsistent. They say two

10 different things. In fact, I think they say

11 the opposite. And what that tells you is that
12 people inside the record companiesdon't always

13 see it the same way. And you would probably

14 expect that in a market that is rapidly
15 evolving as the music industry.

16 And so we will give you a chance to

17 meet Sony's witnesses. Tomorrow, Dennis Kooker

18 will be the first witness we call from Sony.

19 You will also meet a lot of other witnesses,

20 and you will be able to assesstheir
21 credibility. You will be able to see whether

22 they really believe that: Pandora is or is not

23 promotional, and you will be able to make that
24 judgment yourself.

And what you'l also see is that the
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1 actual behavior of the Webcastersalso tells
2 you somethingabout promotion and substitution
3 becausewhat it shows you, if you look at Tabs

4 3 through 6, is that Pandoraand iHeart are

5 viewing Spotify as a significant competitor.

6 They'e competing for the same listeners.
7 They'e trying to get listeners to go back and

8 forth with each other. That's what good

9 competitorsdo, they try to take customersaway

10 from each other. And that's what these
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11 documentsshow. These are Pandora'sand

12 iHeart's internal documents. They view each

13 other as competitors.

So when you'e sitting there

15 thinking about the statutory factor of whether

16 Webcastersare interfering with other revenue

17 streams, these documentstell you that Pandora

18 and others are interfering with the revenue

19 streamsthat would otherwise come from

20 interactive services

21 Briefly, a note about price
22 discrimination. l'm sorry. 1 actually skipped

23 the simulcasters-- well, skipped Slide 69 and

24 70, and 71. Price discrimination. We are not

25 proposing any price discrimination. You raised
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1 the issue in your initial reports. Pandora is

2 proposing a form of price discrimination. NAB

3 maybe is.
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What Pandora is proposing is that

5 you should establishrates where ad-supported

6 servicespay less than subscriptionservices.

7 But we think there'sa problem with that. We

8 think there are severalproblems.

First, creating the wrong

10 incentives. Lower rates for ad-supported

11 serviceswould financially motivate a service

12 to go to ad support. You would be favoring one

13 businessmodel over another. You would be

14 disfavoring another. And if you look at Tab

15 the last tab in your binder, it's an

16 internal -- it's an e-mail betweenPandoraand

17 Merlin in the negotiations. And you will see

18 that the Merlin -- the Pandorarepresentative
19 is saying exactly this point. So you'e
20 creating incentives that are going to distort
21 the marketplace. You have a financial
22 incentive to be ad-supportedand not

23 subscription.

Second, that's not what would happen

25 in the but-for world where there was no
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1 statute. The record companieswould not give a

2 lower rate for ad support unless there was a

3 conversion incentive, an incentive to upsell to

4 the subscriptionservices. But th.at's not what

5 Pandora is proposing. They'e just proposing a

6 lower rate for an ad-supportedservice, and

7 that's not what would happen in the market.

8 And you can look at the benchmarkagreementsto

9 see that.
10 And, finally, the statutory license
11 grants each licenseethe same rights. It's up

12 to the licensee to decide what they want to do

13 with those rights. Are they going to use all
14 of them? Some of them? None of them? It's up

15 to the licensee to decide how they want the use

16 them and what model they want to offer. But

17 the license should be agnostic. The license

18 should let the licenseedecide how much of

19 those rights they want to use and how they want

20 to use them.

21 NAB offers their very, very low rate
22 of . 0005 for simulcasters,like what I should

23 you on the screen. They don't say what they'e
24 offering for non— simulcasters. They say we

25 don't take a position on that. But. some of
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1 their argumentswill suggestthat they think

2 Pandoraand other customizedradio services
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3 should pay more becausethe user gets to

4 influence the music much more so than in a

5 simulcast. And so that's what they'e
6 proposing.

Again, we think there'sproblems

8 with that. First of all, simulcastsare

9 subject to user influence, and I showed you the

10 Madonna example. And, second, you have the

11 same problems again. You'e creating
12 incentives for a simulcasternot to get it, and

13 not to get it too personalbecauseif you do

14 you cross the line and have to pay a higher

15 rate, and you'l ha.ve to define what is a

16 simulcast.

17 Is Madonna a simul -- is that
18 Madonna example a simulcast'

And here's anotherproblem you will
20 have. If you look at iHeart's definition of a

21 simulcasterin their rate proposal, they say a

22 simulcaster,and the call it a broadcast

23 transition. But they'e saying a simulcast is
24 anything that involves a majority of the music

25 in the same thing as on terrestrial radio. The
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1 maj ority of the music.
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So what they'e saying is that you

3 can take the terrestrialbroadcast,switch out,

4 flip out 49.9 percent of that music and it
5 would still be a simulcast for rate purposes,

6 and they want a very low rate for simulcast.

The revenue share that we propose,

8 we propose the revenue share of 55 percent, and

9 I think when you see the benchmarkagreement

10 you'l see where we get it from and that it'
11 conservative. I would also note that out there

12 in the marketplace,companies like Netflix and

13 Amazon and Apple's download store, they all pay

14 70 percent, probably 70 percent of the revenue

15 to the content owners that supply them with the

16 content that they own. And we think we have

17 offered a definition of revenue that will work

18 for the license.
Non-commercialWebcasters. We

20 believe that the non— commercial Webcasters,

21 first, is that most of them pay the minimum

22 fee, and we'e not. proposing any change in the

23 minimum. fee. Same $ 500 that it's been for

24 years. There's only one non— commercial

25 Webcaster, the NRB-NMLC that's provided you
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1 with a rate proposal. And they sought to

2 change it so that there'sthree tiers of rates,
3 three levels. 500 up to 1, 500 is the highest.

4 We don't see a reason for the change.
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If you have less than 159,000

6 aggregatetuning hours, you pay the minimum

7 fee. If you'e above that you, you pay the

8 same per-play rate as commercial Webcasters.

9 That's what the board orderedback in 2010 and

10 we think that should continue.

I will reservemy -- any further
12 comments having gone out, and quite long right
13 now, for this afternoon. And I thank you for

14 your attention.
15 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you, Mr.

16 Pomerantz.

17 We'e going to take our morning

18 recess,which will be 15 minutes and try to

19 two 15 minutes, which means by the time

20 everybody gets out of the room, it will be time

21 to come back in.
22 Before we do, may I assumeyou are

23 Mr. Johnson?

24 MR. JOHNSON: Yes, Your Honor. I

25 apologize for being late.
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CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: That ' all
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2 right.
Pleasestand and identify yourself

4 for the court reporter.
MR. JOHNSON: George Johnson from

6 GEO Music in Nashville, Tennessee.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Welcome.

MR. JOHNSON: Thank you.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: And you can

10 coordinatewith Mr. Pomerantzregarding opening

11 statementif you would like to give one.

12

13

MR. JOHNSON: Yes.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Okay. We will
14 be at recess, then, for 15 minutes.

15

16

(A short recesswas taken.)

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Mr . Johnson,

17 would you like to make an opening statement?

18 MR. JOHNSON: Yes, I would, Your

19 Honor.

20 Good morning, Your Honor, and thank

21 you for this opportunity to be here with you

22 today, and my name is George Johnson.

23 For the past 30 years, I have been

24 an independentsinger— songwriter in Nashville,

25 Tennesseeand Los Angeles, California, who
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1 writes and composeshis own music. It's a real
2 privilege to be able to sharemy story with you

3 in this great proceeding, it's the story of all
4 American creators, and unfortunately, the story

5 is tragic.
For the past 15 years, whether you

7 are young or old, just starting out,

8 well-seasoned,independentor with a major

9 label, streamshave taken over the entire
10 industry. Everything is set at .00 cents.

11 There is no way for us to survive.

12 Most importantly, I think we need

13 your intervention and without your help, Your

14 Honor, the story does not have a happy ending

15 for 99 percentof the current and future

16 American copyright creators, especially
17 independentdigital sound creators,who create

18 both 114 and 115 copyrights, sometimesat the

19 same time. So many incredible American

20 singer-songwriters,producersand independent

21 record labels throughout the decadesmade their
22 own records, hit records, without the help or

23 benefit of major recording labels.
24 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Excuse me.

25 Can you pull that mic just a little bit closer?
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MR. JOHNSON: Sure. Sorry, Judge.

These independentshave a talent,
3 businesssavvy and just enough money to help

4 create the great American songbook, despite the

5 royalty system the federal governmenthas

6 designedfor them. In a way we independents

7 are the foreign team, the minor league, the

8 life blood of the music industry. We are being

9 put out of businessby streamersand, yes,

10 three major labels, now all four known, in the

11 most anticompetitiveway possible and on

12 purpose.

13 Sadly, we have become -- come to the

14 proverbial crossroadsin the industry. Garth

15 Brooks is correct, we'e dealing with the

16 devil, as he called it, YouTube streamers

17 severalmonths ago. Being the number one

18 recording artist of all times who pointed out

19 the heart of the matter, as he said on video, I

20 think the thing is you have to put music first.
21 The governmenthas passeda lot of laws really
22 quickly and allowed technology kind of just to

23 use music as a tool without paying for it.
24 And I would like to see the

25 governmentrevisit that, becausemusic could
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1 come back to the front and center if we could

2 just get some help, he's exactly right, and we

3 do need some help from the copyright office and

4 Your Honor.

And we'd also hope this proceeding

6 is the beginning of raising rates for all music

7 copyright creators that actually covers the

8 costs of copyright creation, like it used to.

9 And that's kind of the heart of the matter is
10 the cost of copyright creation.

The independentmusic copyright

12 creator is the one person in the copyright

13 clause and the copyright action designedto

14 protect. Unfortunately, right now and for the

15 past ten to 20 years, the alleged digital
16 revolution, these independentmusic creators
17 and their livelihood have been systematically
18 destroyedby greed and premeditationof a

19 handful of streamingcompanies, like Pandora,

20 Google, YouTube, Spotify, and now Apple. It is
21 the most anticompetitivemarketplaceI have

22 ever seen in my lifetime and we are allowing it
23 to happen.

What they all have in common is they

25 use government interventions in the music
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1 royalty system to make their money, using

2 loopholes and laws designedto help music

3 copyright creators to take control and extract
4 all the profits from our personalprivate
5 company, our copyrights.

One example is 37 CFR 385, it
7 enshrinesthe mechanicalrate at 9.1 cents for

8 115 underlying works and spends the rest of 385

9 destroyingSection 385.3 with 30-day limited

10 downloads of your entire playlist without

11 paying for the minimum statutory rate. This

12 also applies to digital sound recording and

13 there'sno money for that either. They are

14 allowed to take it for 30 days, download

15 without the 70 percentyou should get from

16 Apple.

17 And I realize that some people

18 considerstreamingdifferent from downloads,

19 but to me, it is still performance. It is
20 still a -- there'sstill a mechanicalside to

21 the -- to a stream, but it's a copyright. It'
22 a sound recording copyright basic before you

23 ever get to interactive, noninteractive,all
24 those different definitions, which I don'

25 think really matter anymore and I think as
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1 SoundExchangesaid interactive and

2 noninteractiveare boring in their conversions.

3 I think downloads and streamingare conversions

4 as well.
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So anotherprime loophole is the

6 safe harbor in DCMA. It potentially lets
7 streamersbootleg your digital sound recorder

8 and I think that is wrong.

Section 114(f) (2)(B), I think (i),
10 the Copyright Act states: "In determining such

11 rates and terms, the judges must base their
12 decisionson economic, competitive and

13 programming information presentedby the

14 parties. Specifically, they must consider

15 whether the service may substitute for or may

16 promote the sales of phonorecordsor otherwise

17 affect the copyright owner's other streamsof

18 revenue," and nothing could be more true than

19 that to streamers.

20 Now I was asked to prove in the

21 first responseand I -- in my admitted written

22 statement,you know, do -- does streaming

23 cannibalizethe sale of phonorecords,and I

24 think Mr. Pomerantzdid a wonderful job proving

25 that, and I think they will prove that and it'
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1 partly my case, too. I believe the streamings

2 cannibalizephonorecords,streamingsand

3 downloads. Streaming is the future, and if it
4 is the future, we must make sure we get paid at

5 this point.

As his own office said in the

7 current copyright music marketplacesetting
8 conductedby the copyright office who issued

9 February of 2015, there is no policy

10 justification for a standardthat requires
11 music creators to subsidize those who seek to

12 profit from their works, and that is absolutely

13 true, and that recent statementclearly
14 summarizesGEO's case in this hearing.

15 The copyright interestsand needs of

16 millions of American recording artists and

17 independentlabel, songwritersbeing published,

18 performers come first before the wants and

19 demandsof starts up like Pandora, Google and

20 Spotify, who seek to profit from other people'

21 creation and private property.

22 Additionally, Pandora'sso-called

23 businessmodel is not a matter of public

24 policy. As legendarysinger— songwriter Rosanne

25 Cash said, streaming is just dressedup piracy,
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1 and she could not be more correct. She also

2 strongly argues there is no law form, moral

3 justification for music creators to subsidize

4 those who seek to profit from our work.

Back in 1971, RIAA presidentStanley

6 Gortikov was called to testify in front of the

7 policy judiciary committee. His great quote

8 was: "The pirates skim the cream of what

9 artists and record companiesoffer, except for

10 one particular ingredient which he avoids like
11 the plague, our risks."
12 That is the exact predicamentall
13 independentand individual digital sound

14 recording copywriter, creatorsare in with all
15 streaming, internet radio, Webcasting, and

16 video streamingcorporations.

17 Recent register of copyrights from

18 Maria Pallante also notes that music creators
19 are forced to do businessin legal quicksand,

20 and she is exactly right. Another classic
21 statementthat summarizesGEO's case is that if
22 music did not pay, it would be given up,

23 whether it pays or not, the purpose of

24 employment is profit, and that is enough. And

25 that was written by a Supreme Court Justice
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1 Oliver Wendell Holmes in Herbert versus
98

2 Stanley.

GEO would also like to stress
4 JusticeHolmes like RegisterPallante, they

5 strictly used the word profit, not income,

6 payment or make money. He also used the word

7 music. Not a mechanical, a performance,or a

8 noninteractivestreamare exempt from copyright

9 law.

10 Here is a SupremeCourt opinion from

11 one of the most legendaryrespectedjustices,
12 emphaticallystating that the entire purposeof

13 licensing music copyrights is to profit. That

14 means we profit. The individual copyright

15 owners, not Pandora, Pandoraexecutiveswho

16 have taken out almost a half billion dollars
17 for themselvesthe past four years, which I

18 find incredible.
JusticeHolmes also rightly points

20 if music did not pay, it would be given up.

21 That is where we are, Your Honor. I hope that
22 carriesweight in this proceeding.

23 Since the digital revolution 15

24 years ago, I am seeing, as a songwriter and

25 someonewho createssound recordings together,
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1 they are all bundled up for me. They are not

2 separate,but I am watching my friends go back

3 to Texas, work selling magazines,driving

4 around, working at Walmart, and if you listen
5 to Bart Herbison who says 90 percent is from

6 NSAI, 90 percent of songwriters and music

7 publishers in Nashville have been -- have gone

8 away the past 15 years.

And that goes for artists and sound

10 recording industry and independentlabels too

11 and why we are here today.

12 So let me see. If you could please

13 put up my one exhibit here. What I am

14 proposing, the copyright office also — — I

15 participatedin the last year's roundtablesand

16 music licensing institute with the copyright

17 office, and they talked about bundling

18 copyrights. Now there is a carveout for RA and

19 SoundExchange,which I think should be included

20 in the bundled copyright, but what I am trying
21 to propose to Your Honor is, we are here to set
22 the rates and the terms, so let's change the

23 terms becausethere is no way that we can

24 survive without paying for the cost of

25 copyright creation.
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So what I am proposing, of course,
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2 we are not dealing with songwritersand music

3 publishers in this hearing, but let's pay

4 recording artists and independentrecord

5 labels, and this includes the major labels, 25

6 cents up front, a one time fee in a streaming

7 account, it was bundled like the copyright

8 office wants to, and I think it's a great idea.

9 Let's start doing that and change the terms so

10 that we are not all put out of business.

And that is my basic case right
12 there. Is to have a copyright bundle streaming

13 account up front one time. If it is not 25

14 cents, it's 10 cents. I am trying to offer at
15 least a dollar. But when you look at
16 actually Mr. Nichols switch to G2 and then G3.

17 Recently, the RIAA came out with

18 these figures of what sound recordingshave

19 been over through the course of history. Now,

20 to me, theseare actual real benchmarksfor

21 sound reporting copyrights. Now Pandoraand

22 others will argue that, oh, no, that doesn'

23 apply but it is a copyright. It's a

24 performance. So this is what we should be

25 charging for streamingaccount for different
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1 things.
Let's switch to the other one, Mr.

3 Nichols. That is just a general one, but, you

4 know, I look back and I have the Beatles

5 proposal which is Proposal 3 which is basically
6 $ 5 a song, and when you look back at the

7 Beatles album in 1964, it is $ 5 a song. An

8 album should be about $ 40. But we are at .00

9 nothing now.

10 So what I am trying to say is that
11 we should apply these sound recording

12 benchmarksthat are real benchmarksto

13 streaming in a streamingaccount and that the

14 customerpays up front one time and pays for

15 the cost of copyright creation, which they are

16 not paying for right now and it is kind of a

17 scam.

18 So that is my case, and I would also

19 like to say somethingabout benchmarks,and Mr.

20 Harrison is trying to say they of fer open

21 market, fair market, effectively a competitive

22 market in their latest filing, they say true

23 competitive forces at arm's length, and to me,

24 these are not benchmarksbecauseyou are not in

25 a free market. The music businesshasn't seen
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1 a free market grow over a hundredyears and

2 this is statutory license, compulsory license,

3 statutory rate, consentdecree, even this rate
4 court here. We are setting rates and we'e not

5 letting millions of price points operate in a

6 free market to where that sets the benchmark

7 and I believe it would be much higher, and if
8 we'e going to set a free market rate, then

9 let's set an actual free market rate.
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10 And if we did set one, then we

11 wouldn't even be here, becausethe market will
12 take care of it for us. But while we'e here,

13 if we are to going price fix, let's give us

14 somethingthat we can create and have a

15 livelihood insteadof just being robbed and

16 having costs, $ 55 to register your work and

17 take over million streamsjust to pay for my

18 registrationand my copyrighting work.

19 So in closing, I think that we

20 should -- Mr. Nichols go back to the other one.

21 The customerwho pays for copyright creation
22 and it has to be part of a distribution model

23 and the dollar up front, maybe even more, one

24 time per song, then streamall you want if
25 streamerswere still making profits and sell it

(866) 448 - DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 04-27-2015

1 advertising.
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I think the bundle copyright idea is
3 the way to go and include SoundExchange,and

4 the other thing is my fifth amendmentproperty

5 right, which I believe is absolutelybeing

6 violated. My right to property without due

7 process,without just compensationand

8 certainly these songs seem like they are for

9 public use.

10 And I also have a first amendment

11 right for my copyright, and that is it. So I

12 ask the Judge to pleaseconsider the copyright
13 bundling, and if not, Proposal 1 that I have

14 offers ten cents per stream, which is
15 reasonable. And I think -- what I am trying to

16 do with this is pass the cost of copyright
17 creation and not give it to Pandora, not say,

18 you need to have your advertisersget the money

19 or even the investorsneed to get more money.

20 Let's pass it on to the customers. Sure, it
21 will change your businessmodel, but to me, I

22 think you guys had a legal businessmodel the

23 whole time.

So if we'e going to do ten cents

25 and not up front, I would like to see it maybe
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1 like an electric meter, which I said in my

2 amendedwritten statement,and that the

3 customergradually pays for these songs and,

4 you know, at least, it would, you know, if it'
5 a streamas a mechanicaland a performanceat

6 the same time, ten cents would cover the cost

7 of a mechanical,which I think is still there,
8 even though we are in a DSR hearing.
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So I hope you will consider this,
10 Proposals2 and 3 for up front copyright

11 streamingaccount. Thank you, Your Honor. I

12 appreciateit.
13 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you,

14 Mr. Johnson.

15

16

Mr. Rich, do you want to begin?

MR. RICH: Thank you. Thank you and

17 good morning, Your Honor. The order of

18 presentationon the service side, at least
19 insofar as the public rounds of openings is
20 concerned,will begin with my remarks on behalf

21 of Pandora. I expect to take about an hour. I

22 will be followed by Mr. Josephon behalf of the

23 NAB. He will be followed by Mr. Hansen,

24 respectingiHeartMedia. Following that, Ms.

25 Ablin will make opening remarks on behalf of
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1 the National Religious BroadcastersMusic

2 License Committee. And Mr. Malone will then

3 speak on behalf of IBS and Harvard Radio. For

4 myself, my intention is to only pop up once

5 today.
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CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Is Sirius

7 going to have a

MR. RICH: I beg your pardon. I

9 left Mr. Fakler out. Unintentional,

10 unintended. He will follow iHeartRadio's

11 presentation. Thank you very much. I

12 appreciateMs. Ablin's presentation.
13 I intend only to be here once and

14 with that in mind, have createda binder of

15 materialswhich, with Your Honor's permission,

16 I would like to hand out, which I'm not going

17 to project, becausethe majority of it contains

18 protective order type material, and so I will

19 allude to them, but ask you to read them

20 privately when we get to the appropriateplace.

21

22

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

MR. RICH: I have divided my opening

23 statementinto three parts. First, I want to

24 talk a little bit about Pandora, its business,

25 what is unique as a music licensing platform,
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1 the nature of the competition it faces, and of

2 course, the importance of the royalties to be

3 set here to Pandora'songoing business.
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You will hear more detail on each of

5 these topics principally from Mr. Westergren,

6 who is the founder of Pandora, Mr.

7 Fleming— Wood, who is its chief marketing

8 officer and from Michael Herring who is its
9 chief financial officer.

10 Secondpart of my remarks will
11 describe the starkly different approachesto

12 rate making, which have been adoptedby the

13 respectivesides in construing the standard

14 that governs this proceedingand applying it to

15 proposedbenchmarkagreements. In connection

16 with that portion of my opening, I'l discuss

17 how ProfessorShapiro, our lead economist and

18 other witnesseswill describehow Pandora'

19 rate proposal fits closely the aspirational
20 goal of determining rates that willing buyers

21 will pay willing sellers a competitive margin,

22 to license digital transmissionsof sound

23 recordingsmeeting the statute'srequirements.

24 I will discusshow in contrast, our evidence

25 will demonstratethat the SoundExchange'srate
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1 proposal fails in fundamentalrespectsto do

2 so.
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In the third component of my

4 opening, I will discuss the principal ways we

5 anticipate from the evidentiary filings to

6 date, that SoundExchangewill attempt to

7 denigrate the servicesbenchmarkingdrawn from

8 the service'sdirect license very

9 intentionally, as well as SoundExchange's

10 efforts to prop up the probative value of the

11 record companiesown interactive services

12 benchmark.

13 So Pandora. Pandora is the

14 country's most popular Intern.et radio service

15 servin.g now over 80 million active users. It
16 was launched in 2005 under the direction of its
17 founder, Ken Westergren,and has grown steadily
18 ever since. In many cities across the country,

19 it's the most listened to radio service,
20 period, including traditional terrestrial
21 radio. Pandorahas a very simple and intuitive
22 interface. That interface as Mr. Pomerantz

23 conceded, is largely unchangedfrom the way it
24 operatedwhen it was first launched. Like

25 other radio services, Pandoraoffers expertly
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1 tiered genre stations, ranging from top 40 to

2 highly specializedBlueglass, Big Band,

3 Bollywood and so forth.

108

But the real heart of Pandora is
5 personalizedradio. On their computer or

6 mobile phone, the user simply enters the name

7 of an artist or genre, and then that is it.
8 Pandorathen createsa station basedon that
9 starting point, they call it a seed, with songs

10 that share similar musicalogical

11 characteristicsto the seed. What is the

12 sauce. How does it get done.

13 What makes Pandoradifferent and

14 more popular than other all Internet radio

15 servicescombined is something they call the

16 Music Genome Project. The team of Pandora

17 music analysts,many with Ph.D.s in musicology,

18 have spent the better part of 15 years mapping

19 the detailed traits of over a million sound

20 recordings. Those characteristicsinclude

21 tempo, instrumentation,melody, harmonic

22 structure, lyrical content and vocal quality.
23 Hundreds of traits in all that make up the

24 musicalogicalDNA, as it were, of a given

25 recording.
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Based on these traits or what are
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2 called genes, Pandoracreatesplaylists with

3 songs that share the same musical DNA as the

4 seed and that spans sounds from indies and

5 majors, songs that have had very little
6 currency or popularity including songs that the

7 listener has probably and most certainly have

8 never heardbefore.

Now Pandorathen allows users also

10 to give feedbackpreferences,by so-called

11 thumbs up and thumbs down icons while the song

12 is playing. Then the algorithms that underlie

13 this big engine can then use that feedback

14 along with the thumbs up and thumbs down of

15 other users who have indicated similar musical

16 tastesto further refine the listening
17 experience.

18 The result of this processis summed

19 up by Mr. Westergrenwho has written direct
20 testimony in Paragraph3, quote, Pandora is a

21 personalizedInternet radio platform that
22 exposeslisteners to music they will love and

23 gives artists the opportunity to have their
24 music discoveredby fans who might not

25 otherwisehave learnedabout them.
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Now, to be sure, Pandoraprovides

2 benefits to artists and labels well beyond

3 royalty payments. Pandoraplays songs from

4 more than 120,000 different artists a month.

5 As I indicated, many of theseartists lesser
6 known, and many of them don't have any

7 realistic prospectof being played on radio

8 stations, traditional radio stations or even

9 other major Webcasters.

10 Pandora, in addition, receives

11 thousandsof artist submissionsa month, both

12 artist and record labels I should say, asking

13 to be played on Pandorato gain wider audience

14 reach for their music. Artists routinely
15 report to Pandorathat their recordingsare

16 thanks to Pandora, receiving exposurethey

17 would never have attainedotherwise, and

18 correspondingly,generatingsales they never

19 otherwisewould have realized.
20 Now the evidence that plays on

21 Pandora'sneed to increasesalesare not just
22 anecdotal. You will hear from Dr. McBride, who

23 is an inside the company scientist, about a

24 project conductedwith other scientific team

25 colleagues. What they did was run a series of
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1 experimentsdesignedto empirically and

2 rigorously test Pandora'simpact, if any, on

3 sales or sales recordings. So what they did

4 was, they turned off thousandsof songs. They

5 basically stoppedplaying them in half the

6 country. Half the country kept hearing the

7 songs, the other half, they shut them down.

8 And then they comparedand tracked sales

9 experiencein those demographicmarkets with

10 the turned— off songs versus the non— turned— off
11 songs.

12 And as Dr. McBride's testimony will
13 explain and validate, the experiments

14 definitively demonstratethat performanceson

15 Pandoraactually causedsales of songs to

16 increase. I want to emphasizethat this is
17 empirical evidence of a type never before

18 presentedin a CRB proceeding. It is not just
19 anecdotal. It is not supposition. It's a

20 rigorously conductedscientific experimentand

21 Dr. McBride will appear and defend its
22 integrity.
23 Finally, by way of extra benefits to

24 the recordedmusic industry, it's worth noting

25 that Pandoraalso affords artists and their
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1 managersdata at a level that has never been

2 before assembled,and it's highly useful,

3 through something they call an artist marketing

4 program.

Pandora is making the uniquely rich

6 trove of such data. available to theseartists
7 and managers. This includes songs of the

8 artist that are playing on Pandora, how often

9 each play, how many listenershear those songs

10 and aggregateddemographicinformation about

11 those listeners, such a.s age, gender and

12 geography.

13 This has been proved to be highly

14 useful in connectionwith figuring out other

15 ancillary activities including where to

16 scheduleconcertsand where the opportunity to

17 boost sales is most available to these

18 particular artists.
Now although sometimesreferred to

20 as a customizedor personalizedservice,

21 Pandora is above all radio. Other than

22 selecting this seed we discussedand thumbing

23 up and thumbing down, the user just leans back

24 and let's Pandorado the work of selectinga

25 great playlist. This ma.kes Pandora
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1 meaningfully different than the so-called lean

2 forward, on demand services like Rhapsodyon

3 Radio or Spotify, where the listener chooses

4 the particular songs he wants to hear, the

5 order in which he wants to hear them and can

6 listen to them when and as often as he likes.
Well, Mr. Pomerantzsuggestedthat

8 this is a slight difference in accessto music,

9 all evidence is really to the contrary, that it
10 is actually a quite profound difference, not

11 only in listening experiencebut in the nature

12 of both the downstream, as we will talk about,

13 and upstreammarkets or consumeruser

14 respectivelyon interactive servicesand

15 noninteractiveservices.
16 The point is that if a subscriberto

17 an interactive service wants to gorge on a

18 given song, album or artist, to rewind, skip

19 without limitation, all of that can be done,

20 all of that can be done unlike the limitations
21 presentedby Pandorabeing subject to the

22 statutory license limitations.
23 Now despite SoundExchange'sefforts
24 which you will hear much about, using the

25 witness testimony, it's a poor trade, Pandora
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1 has an intensehead-to-headcompetition with

2 interactive servicesor as being in the vortex

3 of this so— called convergencebetween

4 interactive and noninteractiveservices, none

5 of that can explain away this basic

6 distinction. Very basic distinction between on

7 demand listening where the user selectsthe

8 songs he or she will listen to, an Internet

9 radio where the service itself programs the

10 songs.

We will submit that the weight of

12 the evidence shows there is no slight
13 difference either in actual performanceand

14 more importantly in its implications for rate
15 setting here. Indeed, if one looked at the

16 and thought about the very legislation giving

17 rise to these statutoryproceedings,Your

18 Honor, as yourself as recently as 2013

19 recognizedhow fundamentalthis very

20 distinction in listening concept and in

21 accessibilityto music, it's in your Web III
22 remand determination,may I remind you, you

23 indicated that the rationale for permitting the

24 on demand side of the market to be unregulated

25 be subject to the free market forces as it
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1 were, was Congress' recognition that

2 interactive servicesare the most likely to

3 pose the greatestrisk of substitution.
That is, of course, displacementof

5 record sales. The reasonbeing that the user

6 of an interactive service, in Your Honor's

7 words, quote, essentiallydecideswhich sound

8 recordingshe will receive, unquote, open

9 quote, and analogousto the decision to

10 purchasemusic digitally or otherwise.

Conversely, Your Honor has

12 recognizedWebcasterspose a, quote, major

13 difference, unquote, in the risk of

14 displacementand that's so becauseWebcasting

15 services, in your words, quote, play a more

16 passive role in the music selectionprocess

17 with the Webcasteritself anticipating what

18 music the listener might enjoy, in your words,

19 quote, much like radio, unquote.

20 Nothing since 2013 has changedwith

21 respectto those basic observations

22 JUDGE STRICKLER: Web II I remand

23 decision asks for those evidence — — precededin

24 2013, will you pleasepresenta witness who

25 discusseshow the convergencehas changedif at
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1 all from the evidence that we had in the record

2 from the 2013?

MR. RICH: Fair question and

4 answering, we definitely will -- both our fact
5 and economic witnesseswill do exactly that, as

6 will the survey resultspresentedby Edison

7 Research,Mr. Rosin which is a current snapshot

8 of user behavior, interchangeability,so the

9 response-- not response,but a counter to the

10 Butler evidence, and that in combinationwill
11 directly addresswhy, as I have indicated,
12 nothing has changedin the respectthat were

13 relevant to your last determination.

14 JUDGE STRICKLER: Which specific
15 witness would you say was contrary to Ms.

16 Butler?

17 MR. RICH: Mr. Rosin of Edison.

18 Now, the core premise of

19 SoundExchange'scase is that listening to

20 Pandorais a substitutefor subscribingon

21 demand services such as Spotify, for a

22 proposition. And that Pandora in fact is not,

23 quote, much like radio, but insteadsatiates
24 the user's'nterestin deciding which sound

25 recordingshe will receive to the same or
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1 similar degree.

I respectfully submit that the

3 evidencewe will submit will expose this as a

4 fundamentalmisconception. Nearly 70 percent

5 of the time spent listening to music is through

6 so-called lean back services, terrestrial radio

7 and Webcasting.

If you look at your first slide in

9 the demonstrativepackage, you will see that
10 through the shadedsectors, and you will see

11 another interestingstatistic there. This is
12 an exhibit presentedby ProfessorShapiro at
13 Page 9 of his rebuttal testimony. I just put

14 it forward here.

15 You will see on that same chart that
16 only sevenpercent, only sevenpercent of total
17 music listeners is to interactive services. So

18 what does that tell us? Tells us that that
19 marketplaceis populatedby a small, but avid,

20 group of music listeners. The very survey I

21 just mentioned, Your Honor, conductedby Edison

22 Research,which was referencedin one or more

23 slides put up during his opening by Mr.

24 Pomerantzwhich has been retainedby the music

25 industry on all sides for generationsas the
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1 gold standardof survey researchin this field,
2 conducteda survey here about which Mr. Rosin,

3 who is its president, will testify,
4 demonstratingamong other fundamental

5 propositions, the following, which is as to the

6 small universe of avid music listeners, fewer

7 than four percent, four percent of the

8 respondentsto the Edison Research'ssurvey

9 reportedpaying for subscriptionto the by far
10 dominant platform premium on-demandservice,
11 pardon me, Spotify.

12 Fully 91 percent of respondentswho

13 are not current subscribersto an on— demand

14 service indicated that they were not at all
15 likely or not very likely to spend $ 9. 95 a

16 month to subscribeto such a service, and a

17 highly significant majority respondedto the

18 same effect even when punitive price points

19 were dropped down to as low as 3 or $ 4 a month.

20 For its part, that survey will indicate and the

21 testimony will reveal that Pandorawith its
22 more than 80 million active users is
23 predominantlyshifting listeners from

24 terrestrial radio, which pays nothing to the

25 record labels, or second largest category of
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1 diversion for listeners is people who were not

2 listening to music at all. So if you step back

3 and think about that, the significant majority

4 of listenerswho are attractedto Pandora

5 historically either never through terrestrial
6 radio paid the record industry anything at all
7 with respectto sound recordingsor are new

8 music listenersand thereforeevery play of

9 these converted listeners, whether from

10 terrestrial radio time or from other

11 entertainmentoptions is money in the record

12 industry's pocket. Key statistic, key

13 stat.istic.
14 Again, from the Edison survey, only

15 one percentof Pandora'smonthly users said

16 that the time spent listening to Pandora is
17 replacing time spent listening to an on-demand

18 service like Rhapsodyor Spotify. One percent.

19 This is not evidence of substitution
20 or of convergencebetweenservices like Pandora

21 and on demand services. I will come back to

22 that a little bit later.
23 Pandora, which has been growing its
24 revenue just as fast as it can, has experienced

25 pretty astonishinggrowth since its inception.
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1 Over the first decadeof its existence, its
2 revenueshave grown from something less than $ 3

3 million a year to over $ 900 million in 2014,

4 but the astonishingrevenue growth really tells
5 only half the story. Pandorahas plowed back

6 into the businessand incurred costs of nearly

7 $2.7 billion to grow to scale and to ultimately

8 hope to attain its first profitable year.
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Over on.e billion dollars of that
10 $2.7 billion has been paid in the form of

11 royalties to recording artists and record

12 labels. And in 2014 alone, Pandorawill have

13 paid more than $ 400 million in statutory
14 royalties.
15 To place those in some perspective,
16 I just of fer you two slices of information.

17 9400 million representsmore than half of

18 SoundExchange'stotal receipts acrossall
19 categoriesof digital service. Not simply

20 limited to Webcasting. More than half of

21 SoundExchange'stotal receipts, statutory
22 users, licensees,are paid by Pandora itself.
23 That 2014 sum exceedsthe total music

24 performing rights royalties paid by the entire
25 terrestrialWebcasting industry ASCAP, BMI and
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1 SESAC for the very musical works embodied in

2 these sound recordings. Let me say that again.

3 The $ 400 million paid by one entity, Pandora,

4 outstrips the cumulative paymentsby all
5 terrestrial radio broadcastersto use all of

6 the musical works embodied in all of these

7 sound recordings. This is a remarkable sum of

8 money by any measure.

Now as is known to the judges,

10 Pandorahas been paying royalties to the record

11 industry basedon the so— called peer—play

12 rates. Those negotiatedrates, it's important

13 to point out, are different and lower than the

14 statutory rates which Mr. Pomerantzput up on

15 the screen that were establishedby the CRB in

16 Webs II and III.
17 An important point is that when Mr.

18 Pomerantzsays that the rate Pandoraseeks

19 here, which I think the number was 52 percent

20 lower than statutory rate, that loads the deck

21 a bit, becausePandorahas never paid the Web

22 II or III statutory rate. It has paid

23 significantly less. And its rate proposal is
24 far more in line with the rates it has paid for

25 reasonsindependentlyjustifiable.
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You don't rely on the peer-play
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2 rates to set a fee here like Tweeter, but in

3 point of fact, Pandora is not looking to reduce

4 its royalty obligations by a level of anything

5 like 52 percent from any assertedprior fee

6 obligation. It never paid under the Web II or

7 Web III rates. In fact, had it paid under

8 those rates, it would have incurred beyond the

9 billion dollars it has paid another $ 800

10 million in royalty obligations over the span of

11 Web 1I and Web III and it would have translated
12 into fees exceeding80 percent of Pandora'

13 revenuesover that entire time.

As Mr. Herring will testify, to

15 avert going out of businessunder a scenario

16 where Pandorawould have paid out those higher

17 rates, Pandorawould have had to pull back on

18 necessaryinvestmentsto grow the businessand

19 to continue to develop the Internet radio

20 advertisingmarket, and in his professional

21 estimation, the result of such cutbacks would

22 have been at best a businessvastly reduced in

23 scale and accompanyingthat vast reduction in

24 scale, a company that would have actually paid

25 significantly reducedroyalties to artists and
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1 labels, given the fact that it would not have

2 been able to continue to allow unlimited growth

3 in numbers of compensatorypricing.
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Now going forward under Pandora'

5 rate proposal, it is estimatedthat artists and

6 labels will receive more than $ 2 billion in

7 royalty payments over the 2016 to 2020 license

8 term. Conversely, if the rates were set by

9 Your Honors in a range of SoundExchange's

10 proposal, again it is Pandora'sprofessional

11 judgment and you will hear it, and seeing those

12 defendant'sreasoningon cross— examination I'm

13 sure, that they would likely need to engage in,
14 again, serious cost curtailment measuressuch

15 as capping listening, which they had to do

16 twice before, as recently as 2013, with respect
17 to their mobile platform, with resulting
18 SoundExchangepaymentsactually coming in below

19 what we estimate the $ 2 billion payments that
20 would be yielded by adoption of a rate proposal

21 asked for in the range.

22 JUDGE STRICKLER: Will one of your

23 witnessestestify how much less?

MR. RICH: I think Mike Herring

25 would be the best person to ask. By nature,
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1 it's not a scientific processbecauseit
2 requiresmaking a number assumption,but I

3 think he will certainly be the best person and

4 I think he will make his best run at it.
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JUDGE STRICKLER: Okay.

MR. RICH: Now, it is not an option,

7 not an option for Pandorato simply pass along

8 higher royalties by raising subscription

9 prices. As Your Honors are aware, a very small

10 percentageof Pandora'sbusinessis
11 subscription-based. It's advertising, too.

12 Contrary to what you'e going to

13 hear Dr. Blackburn from the other side

14 speculate,it is not an option for Pandora

15 simply to, quote, sell more ads. And again,

16 Mr. Herring, the CFO is going to explain, this
17 quarterback,this armchair quarterbackingas I

18 will call it, he doesn'tdescribe it. I'l
19 call it that, ignores the fundamentalrealities
20 of a growing businesslike Pandora. What Dr.

21 Blackburn fails to account for is that
22 decisions that might increaseshort— term

23 profitability can have severelyadverse

24 consequencesover the longer term.

25 Pandora is constantly running models
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1 and making evaluative decisionsas to

2 optimizing its advertisingmix, so as to

3 continue to grow its listener base and at the

4 same time, achieveprofitability for its
5 shareholders. We will talk about that at
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6 length to a wealth of questions for us, Your

7 Honors.

These assessments-- I am told I

9 better move along. These assessmentsare not

10 offered to suggestthat Pandora'sentitled to

11 any special treatmenteither to ensure its
12 survival or prosperity. To the contrary, it is
13 solely intended to be made that Pandorawould

14 not be a willing buyer at rate levels which

15 would createpotentially insurmountablehurdles

16 in its path of growing into a profit.
17 Let me get to heart of the matter.

18 The parties'ompetingapproachesto rate
19 setting.
20 As Your Honors are aware, I'm going

21 to read a little bit just to move along, and I

22 apologize, I normally wouldn't but I want to

23 stay on track.

As Your Honors are aware, the rates
25 and terms determinedin this proceedingare
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1 those that, quote, most clearly representthose

2 that would have been negotiatedin the

3 marketplacebetween a willing buyer and a

4 willing seller. That is the statutory task.

5 It has never seriouslybeen contestedand it is
6 by now firmly establishedthat this task calls
7 for rates and terms that would have emerged

8 from negotiations in a competitive marketplace.
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It's also clear that competitive, as

10 Mr. Pomerantzalso would agree, does not mean

11 perfectly competitive but effectively
12 competitive, and certain economists, including

13 ours, I think tend to prefer to it as workably,

14 but they are interchangablefor this purpose.

15 It is also clear, however, that
16 competitive does not mean monopolize. Pandora

17 will presenta st.ra.ightforwardand we believe

18 compelling case supporting its proposedrate
19 and rate structure. The case features the

20 first meaningful evidenceof the Webcast

21 proceedingof direct licensesenteredinto

22 betweenparties to this very proceeding

23 covering the very same statutory rates as are

24 involved here.

25 In other words, the agreements
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1 forming the nucleus of Pandora'srate proposal

2 have been entered into by the same buyers and

3 the same sellers valuing the same copyright

4 rights as are involved in this proceeding.

5 Unlike in previous Webcastingproceedings,

6 there is no need to reach into other markets
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7 that require necessarilyimprecise adjustments

8 to account at an minimum for different buyers

9 acquiring different rates under potentially
10 different market conditions.

In contrast, SoundExchangeagain

12 relies on benchmarkson ratesmajor record

13 labels have obtained in license agreementswith

14 on demand services like Spotify. At the

15 outset, as a comparativehere, this benchmark

16 has two strikes against it. It involves some

17 of the same sellers as are involved in rate
18 setting here, it involves different buyers

19 whose servicesmake fundamentallydifferent
20 uses of sound recordings that implicate grants

21 of different and broader copyright rates.
22 If you look at Demo Slide 2, please,
23 we simply depicted the basic attributes that
24 one looks for in a benchmarkcomparison, and in

25 Column 1, you see four checks in terms of the
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1 alignment of Pandora' direct license benchmark

2 and the fact that SoundExchange' benchmark

3 aligns in only one of the four categories.
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There are other fundamental

5 differencesbetween these competing benchmarks

6 however as well. There is for the first time,

7 a developedrecord as to the starkly different
8 competitive conditions in two distinct
9 so-calledupstreammarkets for licensing sound

10 recording performing rates. One of those

11 markets is involving statutoryWebcastersand

12 the other interactive services.

13 So just to talk about, to get

14 terminology straight at least as I tend to use

15 it, and as explicatedby ProfessorShapiro's

16 written rebuttal testimony at Pages 7 to 13:

17 In order to properly understandthe competitive

18 dynamics of the recordedmusic market, one

19 needs to distinguishbetween the so-called

20 downstreammarket to provide music to listeners
21 which, if you will flip the page, it's depicted

22 graphically in Slide 3, that is showing all of

23 the different music inputs for listenersand

24 the separateupstreammarket, which you will

25 see at Slide 4. These are drawn again from
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1 ProfessorShapiro's testimony. A separate

2 upstreammarket for the inputs used to make the

3 final products that consumersuse. In this
4 case, the relevant markets in which servicers

5 acquire the necessarylicenses to perform

6 recordedmusic.
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ProfessorShapiro'scomprehensive

8 examinationof the competitive conditions in

9 the distinct upstreammarkets for licensing
10 interactive and noninteractiveservices

11 demonstratethe fundamentaldifference in the

12 ability of these servicersto control the mix

13 of music they performed. In only one of those

14 two upstreammarkets involving noninteractives,
15 Webcasters,does one find the characteristics
16 necessaryto enablemeaningful competition to

17 occur betweenand among record labels for plays

18 of their sound recordings.

I quote Mr. Pomerantz from his

20 opening, something I could not contestat all.
21 Good competitors try to take customersaway

22 from each other. That is what they do, end

23 quote. To observecomplete absenceof record

24 companiescompeting with one another to take

25 plays from each other in the interactive space
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1 means virtually by definition, that one doesn'

2 observe the necessaryfeatures of a competitive

3 market in the licensing of sound recording

4 performing rights to interactive services.
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That interactive servicesbenchmark

6 built on, we will submit and our evidencewill

7 prove, it fundamentallyfails to meet the

8 criterion that the rates to be set in this
9 proceedingmust reflect those that would be

10 negotiatedin a competitive market.

And what's the basis for this key

12 difference? Why is one market capableof this
13 form of fundamentalprice competition and the

14 other provably is not. The key is a concept

15 called steering. Steering as our economists

16 use the term is the ability of a service to

17 play relatively more or relatively fewer sound

18 recordings from a given label basedon the

19 prices charged. Fairly basic. Somebody says,

20 I'm going to reduce my per-play rate by 10

21 percent if you will play me more, then there is

22 an incentive, all things equal, for that
23 service to say that sounds good, assuming I can

24 do it commercially viably and not harm my

25 businessand at the same time by definition,
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1 competitorsof that price cutting label who

2 refuse to do so risk having less of their
3 product sold, fewer performancesof their music

4 played, that is simply how competitive markets

5 operate.

The record demonstratesthat Pandora

7 has an unequivocalability to steer at a robust

8 level. It also shows the unequivocal lack of a

9 similar ability by on demand servicescertainly
10 at minimum with respectto the basic raise on

11 debt of those serviceswhich is allowing their
12 user to dictate what is getting played, their
13 unequivocal inability to do the same level of

14 steering.
15 Now you will hear from both

16 ProfessorShapiro and from Pandora'ssenior

17 scientist, Dr. McBride, about a really
18 important Point 14 steeringexperiment in which

19 the company engaged. What they did was to test
20 the proposition of how sensitive listenership
21 on Pandorawould be to meaningful alterations
22 of the intensity of use of various majors,

23 repertories. They tested it at a 15 percent

24 level higher or lower for Universal or Warner,

25 Sony and they tested it. at a 30 percent level
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1 higher and lower and the results of the

2 experimentare telling.
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Pandoracan, with no discernible
4 impact on its listening experience, increaseor

5 decreaseits reliance on the repertory of any

6 major by 15 percent, and it can do that up to

7 30 percentwith only minimal effects on

8 listenership.
There is an exhibit appendedto Nr.

10 Shapiro'swritten direct testimony in which he

11 indicateshow imputing lower royalty rates that
12 can be negotiatedand returned for that
13 steeringability, it can be a win-win for both

14 Pandora in reducing its overall royalty burden

15 and for a record label which has, relatively
16 speaking, earnedmore from increasedplays of

17 its sound recordings than it otherwise would

18 have earned, for example, had it solely
19 received revenuesfrom a statutory license.
20 Now, the bottom line is this, Your

21 Honors. This steeringability enablesPandora

22 to inject competition into the licensing of

23 sound recording rights by affording record

24 companiesthat want to increasetheir market

25 share the opportunity to do so, in return for
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1 offering Pandora the lower price per play. By

2 definition, not every record label can receive

3 such benefits. The other side wants to try to

4 make somethingmeaningful of that proposition.

5 But rather than undermine the force of such
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6 steeringability in inducing competition, that
7 fact makes the very point. Competition is all
8 about trying to gain market share at the

9 expenseof one's competitorsand doing so by

10 charging the lower price. In such a

11 competitive market, labels that charge more

12 than their competitorswill be played less.
13 That is how markets operate.

Now the primary benchmarkthat
15 Pandorarelies on for fee setting here are its
16 direct licensing arrangementswith Merlin and

17 with the accesslabels as they reflect
18 precisely such competition of work.

Let me briefly tell you about the

20 principle of Merlin's agreement. Merlin is a

21 global rights agency that representsnumerous

22 independentlabels in license negotiationsof

23 the type that it concludedwith Pandora.

24 Through its ability to aggregatethe licensing

25 of work from numerous labels, Pandorahas been
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1 dubbed, including by the record industry,

2 quote, a virtual fifth major, unquote.
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JUDGE STRICKER: Are you referring
4 to Merlin?

MR. RICH: Yes. And of course, that
6 was -- I should say that was at the time when

7 there weren't four actual majors, and now I

8 guess, to use the analogy, would be it is a

9 virtual fourth major, if I may take the liberty
10 to convert that.

By all accounts, including those of

12 SoundExchange'switnessesfrom whom you will
13 hear, Messrs. Wheeler and Van Armen, Merlin is
14 a sophisticatedorganizationwhich is savvy in

15 the digital licensing arena and one that is
16 able to negotiaterates that are comparableto

17 those in the majors. One of the interesting
18 featuresof this case is that SoundExchange's

19 own principal economic expert, Professor

20 Rubinfeld, himself has studied and proffered

21 analysesas to what gap one would experience

22 and one has observedin the licensing of sound

23 recordingperforming rights in agreements

24 enteredinto by the majors on one hand and the

25 independentlabels on the other.
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So any suggestionthat the Merlin
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2 agreementis somehow tainted or

3 unrepresentativebecauseit only involves

4 indies is respondedto virtually completely by

5 ProfessorRubinfeld of SoundExchange'sown

6 analysis. He found barely a two percentprice
7 differential in the marketplace. Two percent.

8 Between the royalty fees one would expect the

9 majors to elicit in marketplacetransactions
10 for sound recording performing rights and what

11 independentlabels would be expectedto yield.
12 It is really a non-factor. It's a rounding

13 error.
14 Now Merlin saw the benefit of

15 entering into a direct license arrangementwith

16 Pandorabecauseof its very recognition of

17 Pandora'sability to steer. In the words of

18 one of its depositionwitnesses,Mr. Lexton,

19 whom you will hear from, more air play is
20 better than less air play. That sort of sums

21 it all up. They recognizedit and they went

22 for it.
23 The resulting agreementcaptures

24 precisely this competitive dynamics. Merlin

25 members receive more air time in exchangefor
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1 incrementally lower per— play paymentswith

2 Pandora.

136

If we turn to Slide 5, please, you

4 will see the Pandora fee proposal which is

5 drawn from the Merlin agreement. It is a

6 little bit of a complicatedslide to unpack. I

7 admit it. I apologize. The person here to

8 walk you through the translationof the Merlin

9 terms to what it appearson Slide 5 is
10 ProfessorShapiro, and with much more time than

11 I have available to me this mornin.g, will

12 explain what that translationamounts to.

13 Now, it's important to contrast this
14 market dynamic that I have describedthat
15 enabledPandora to enter into the transaction
16 with Merlin, and after that, with a very

17 prominent classical label, Naxos, says exactly

18 the same thing. So what one observes in the

19 record industry has chosenbenchmark-- has

20 chosenbenchmarkmarketing, the interactive
21 services.

22 As ProfessorShapiro again will

23 elucidate, this is a market characterizedby a

24 complete lack of price competition between

25 record labels to have their work performed on
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1 interactive services. It is the essential
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2 nature -- becauseof the essentialnature of

3 these on demand services togetherwith their
4 limited inability to steer that brings about

5 this circumstance

Now you need not rely on this
7 recognition. You need not rely solely on

8 ProfessorShapiro's testimony, or that of

9 iHeartMedia or any of these supporting

10 economists. The basic tutorial on this subject
11 was provided by none other than Universal Music

12 Group, the largest distributeeof statutory
13 rights by Glenn. Pomerantz, its counsel and by

14 ProfessorRubinfeld himself, all in government

15 submissions,supportingUniversal'sproposed

16 merger of its sound recording businesswith

17 that of anothermajor music company, EMI, in

18 front of the Federal Trade Commission.

Now becausewe couldn't clear with

20 my friends on the other side actually leading

21 you with significant quotes, I have instead
22 presentativeexcerpts from key submissionsfrom

23 each of these individuals appearingat Pages 6,

24 7, 8 and 9, and some excerpts from very telling
25 documentsof the demonstratives.
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The bottom line is that UMG and its
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2 advisors explained to the ETC that interactive
3 servicesby their nature must offer consumers

4 accessto virtually all music to be viable. We

5 understandthat. That is a fact. That's true.

6 As a consequence,catalogsof each of these

7 majors are must— haves for an interactive
8 service making the catalogs of the majors

9 compliments rather than substitutes.
10 Those are again the sort of terms of

11 economicswhich will I think be explicatedas

12 we go, but bottom line meaning that in a -- you

13 don't see in that marketplaceefforts, you

14 don't see price rivalry betweencompetitors to

15 achievemore plays than its competition. That

16 will be substitution. Rather, every major'

17 entire repertory is needed in unlimited amounts

18 by on demand servicesmaking them compliments.

Now, in plain English terms, as

20 opposedto economies, the stark admissions

21 attest to a complete lack of price competition

22 betweenand among recording music companies in

23 what is now an even more concentratedindustry

24 in their dealings with interactive streaming

25 services. Not a lack of perfect competition or
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1 even of effective competition, no competition

2 at all.
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Now while theseadmissionsmight

4 have helped secure the merger, for reasonsj:

5 won't go into, they are devastating. We will

6 submit in this record here, and hence, I might

7 add, it is no surprise the lengths to which

8 SoundExchangewent to avoid producing these

9 privileged documents,but now we have them.

10 Now notably, in Mr. Rubinfeld's

11 Dr. Rubinfeld' written direct testimony in

12 this case, while he extensivelydiscussedwhy

13 the major licenseswith on demand services

14 purportedly render them optimal benchmarks

15 here, he failed to addressat all, not a word,

16 the necessaryshowing that the rates emerging

17 from these licensesmust reflect those that are

18 emerging in a competitivemarketplace. He went

19 through lots and lots and lots of factors,
20 indicating willing buyer, willing seller and

21 the like, but never mentioned the word

22 competition once, and therefore, devotesnot a

23 word to the critical evidentiary showing of

24 what the transactionscould be said to have

25 occurred in an effectively priced competitive
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1 market. Recent depositionwhen asked whether

2 that was simply an accidentalomission, Dr.

3 Rubinfeld said no, he had been aware of it from

4 the beginning, and while he tries mightily in

5 his rebuttal of testimony to make up for lost
6 ground, finally, at Page 26 of his rebuttal
7 testimony, the word competition first appears,

8 the kind of attributes that he indicates
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9 resuscitatesthe interactive service market

10 that, in fact, allegedly infuse it with

11 sufficient indicia of competition to provide

12 the benchmarksimply is unavailing.

13

14

Can I get a time check from someone?

Let me just say, I am moving through

15 some material I would have preferred to cover,

16 but let me just say th.is, that while we believe

17 and our testimony will suggest, that this
18 crippling limitation of SoundExchange'scase,

19 wholly aside from the fact that it requires

20 lots of other adjustmentsto make it comparable

21 to this market setting, should render it an

22 inactive benchmark for this proceeding. At a

23 bare minimum, it would have been incumbent on

24 SoundExchangeand its experts to attempt to

25 make some adjustmentbeyond merely its
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1 interactivity adjustmentto account for this
2 lack of basic competition in the benchmark

3 market, simply to ignore it, simply to hope it
4 won't see the light of day, simply to dance

5 around it by saying there are lots of other

6 externalitiesin the marketplacethat limit the

7 ultimate pricing ability of a major is no

8 substitutefor that test of competition, which

9 is head to head competition.

10 JUDGE STRICKLER: I apologize. Mr.

11 Rich, will any of your witnessesbe testifying
12 as to the effect of the rates that Pandora

13 proposeson the capacity of record companies,

14 both majors and the independentsto recover the

15 cost of creating the copyrights?

MR. RICH: I'm not aware that we

17 have taken on that issue, Your Honor.

18 Let me quickly turn to some of

19 SoundExchange'sretorts to some of this because

20 nothing I am saying is new to the other side,

21 and we have had a chance to exchangerounds as

22 you know.

23 So how does SoundExchangeattack the

24 Merlin agreement'? Principal argument is the

25 supposedshadow of the statutory license
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1 argument.
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As we interpret ProfessorRubinfeld,

3 its sponsor, we would have the judges disregard

4 any, any marketplaceagreementreachedby a

5 noninteractive, I will say, other than Apple,

6 which helps them but we believe will not. At a

7 level below the statutory rate, so that you

8 should disregardany private agreementreached

9 by any service subject to a statutory license
10 that is reachedat a level below the statutory
11 rate as necessarilytainted by this so— called
12 shadow of the statutory license.
13 As we understandProfessor

14 Rubinfeld's logic, every such agreementis
15 suspectinsofar, A, as the service always had a

16 statutory license available to fall back on,

17 and B, that the record label involved couldn'

18 decline to issue a license, let alone at a

19 price higher than the statutory license.
20 Now, one can accept each of those

21 propositions standing on their own. But the

22 question left completely unan.sweredby

23 ProfessorRubinfeld is what would motivate a

24 record label to license a statutory service at

25 below the prevailing statutory rate, which is
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1 what we have observed in the Merlin and Naxos
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2 transactions
Well, the answer -- it's actually

4 supplied unwittingly by ProfessorRubinfeld

5 himself, becausewhen he filed his written

6 direct testimony not yet aware of these direct
7 license arrangements,he correctly observed

8 that, quote, if the statutory rate is too high,

9 unquote, i.e., if it exceedsthe market rates
10 that will be voluntarily negotiatedbetween

11 willing partners in the absenceof a statutory
12 license, then licenseesand licensorswould

13 have a joint incentive to renegotiate. That is
14 ProfessorRubinfeld's own statementof basic

15 economic principle.
16 What he stated is preciselywhat the

17 PandoraMerlin and PandoraNaxos transactions

18 revealed. Sellers determining it to be in

19 their economic interest, the license plays

20 Pandoraat rates below the statutory rate at

21 which Pandorahas been paying to have their
22 music played more. Discounting below the

23 statutory rates, in ProfessorRubinfeld's own

24 words, provides clear evidence that the

25 statutory rate, quote, exceedsthe market rate.
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Now to be sure, there is a quote up

2 on one of Mr. Pomerantz'sdemonstratives,an

3 alleged admissionby our guy, Professor

4 Shapiro, that statutory rates do have an impact

5 on how one observedtransactionsinvolving

6 statutory licenses, we agree with that and

7 ProfessorShapiro agreeswith that. But it'
8 not the affect, it's not the affect that
9 ProfessorRubinfeld postulates.

10 Instead, as ProfessorShapiro will

11 explain, the impact of the statutory license

12 when one observesa Merlin — type transactionis
13 to artificially elevate the prices that were

14 agreed to above fair market levels becausein

15 that situation, the statutory rate acts as a

16 magnet pulling the negotiatedrates up towards

17 it, so if there is a distortion in the

18 marketplace, in a situation where Professor

19 Rubinfeld has concededone would expect to find

20 transactionsbidding below the statutory rate,
21 it would be if anything, that the observed

22 transactionsoverstatethe actual fair market

23 price for the reasonsthat ProfessorShapiro

24 explained.

25 What about the asserted
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1 representativenessof the Merlin transaction,

2 another refrain from the other side. A couple

3 quick points.
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The fact that Merlin and Naxos deals

5 reflect the direct license were solely a small

6 percentageof record labels and don'

7 themselvesat least yet representa large

8 percentageoverall of spins on Pandora, doesn'

9 suggestthey should get only limited weight.

10 As I'e alreadynoted, Merlin is a

11 heavyweight, a virtual fourth major and

12 SoundExchangeand its witnessesrepeatedlysite
13 as being a significant competitive force in the

14 industry. I'e mentionedalready that the

15 argument that it can't be representative
16 becauseno major signed it, is respondedto by

17 none other than ProfessorRubinfeld himself,

18 who in defendinghis own interactive services

19 benchmarkfeaturing only licensesby the major,

20 it's the flip side, says don't worry about the

21 non-including of indies becausewhat the

22 marketplacetells us is there is no real
23 difference between them. Sauce for the goose,

24 sauce for the gander.

Same argumentwould apply to any
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1 attack on the Merlin agreementon the basis

2 that. the majors would certainly have gotten

3 much higher fees when SoundExchangein the

4 comments says this is not how this market has

5 organizeditself is operated.

146

I will skip presentpurposes,Dr.

7 McBride's impact on salesexperimentwhich

8 provides further support for the validity and

9 representativenature of the Merlin agreement,

10 and I just want to indicate finally though, and

11 this is a fact of life, that the record is
12 replete and you will see evidence of record

13 company testimony, that even though

14 transactionsbelow the statutory rate may make

15 economic sense, years of creating adverse, CRB

16 president, counseledmany companiesand to this
17 day, counseledmany companiesagainstentering

18 into such agreements.

19 One shouldn'tunderestimatethe

20 limiting affeet on direct license transactions
21 one would otherwise expect to see on the basis
22 of this broad basedrecord industry.
23 How much more to an hour?

25

MR. LARSON: Five minutes.

MR. RICH: All right. Other
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1 defenses of interactive servicesbenchmark.
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2 Two arguments. The suggestionthat the market

3 is competitive. I think I have really covered

4 that and I 'm not going to spend very much time

5 on it at all. It is belied by the evidence.

6 It is belied by the admissionsyou will see of

7 the record industry and of its own

8 representativesin another setting here. There

9 is just a complete lack of ability to steer on

10 the part of the on demand services that freezes

11 price competition in that market.

12 And again, ProfessorRubinfeld's,

13 late in the day, rebuttal effort to demonstrate

14 that the market -- that benchmarkmarket

15 evinces sufficient indicia of competition to

16 qualify as effective competition. We feel when

17 the record is complete, will be shown not to

18 hold water.

Strangeargument, strangeargument,

20 averted to by Mr. Pomerantz in his opening.

21 Mr. Rubinfeld speculatesthat while major

22 labels may be must—haves that were referred and

23 both used for interactive services, so too are

24 they must—haves for Webcasters. The

25 implications of this argumentationare pretty
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1 remarkable.
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The argument appearsto suggestthat

3 Your Honors need not be concernedabout the

4 competitivenessof the interactive services

5 market in assessinga proper benchmarkhere,

6 insofar as the same noncompetitivecondition

7 afflict the Webcastingmarket. So rather than

8 frontally addressand attempt economically to

9 adjust for the monopoly pricing conditions that
10 afflict the interactive servicesmarket,

11 ProfessorRubinfeld would sooner have Your

12 Honors act upon -- what I'l call a perverse

13 principal, which is that you needn'tworry

14 about the severeshortcomingsof the

15 interactive servicesbenchmark, insofar as in

16 the absenceof a statutory license, there

17 wouldn't be any competition anyway among record

18 labels in licensing Webcasters.

The argument is not only remarkable,

20 I'l submit, it misses its mark. First of all,
21 there is no -- there is certainly an incomplete

22 record and a debatedrecord as to the degree of

23 which any major is a, quote, must-have, in the

24 sensethat for a Webcaster-- in the sense

25 that, for example, Pandoracould do entirely
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1 without, let's say, Universal. There is

2 differencesof opinion. Pandorahas never

3 reachedthat point of determination, it hasn'

4 tested for that, we all know the answer.
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But even assuming that were the

6 case, let's stipulate that the majors are

7 must— haves, that begs the relevant question.

8 The relevant issue here is whether Webcasters

9 can influence the extent to which they will

10 perform work from a catalog of a major. That

11 is the essenceof steering. By the nature of

12 an on-demandservice, an interactive service

13 lacks that ability, everyone, Professor

14 Rubinfeld included, recognizesthat Webcasters

15 like Pandorado have that ability.
16 I will stop here. I wanted to cover

17 convergence,but out of respect for my

18 colleaguesand the Apple agreementwhich I

19 suspecta number of others will cover, I will

20 pausehere and defer to my colleague, and you

21 will hear more on those topics certainly during

22 the proceedingson this case. Thank you very

23 much.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you. We

25 will take our noonish recessat this time. We
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1 will reconveneat 1: 40 and I ask during this
2 recess, that you not monopolize the clerk'

3 time. This is her lunchtime as well. If you

4 need to confer with her, we will do that at the

5 end of the day.
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(A short recesswas taken.)

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Good

8 afternoon. Pleasebe seated.

Before we startedwe asked

10 facilities to lower the temperaturein this
11 room as much as possible. I think there'sa

12 congressionaledict that says, you know,

13 temperaturecan only be between this point and

14 that point. Consequently,with all thesehot

15 bodies in the room, we'e all very, very warm,

16 as I'm sure you are too.

17 Please,please feel free to remove

18 your jackets. It is really -- we try to

19 maintain a bit of formality, but I don't want

20 to see anybody like dropping out during the

21 middle of the proceeding. So please feel free

22 to remove your jackets and make yourselvesas

23 comfortable as possible.
We did call at noon to ask them to

25 lower the temperatureagain. So we'l see if
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1 it happens.

Mr. Joseph, are you next up?

MR. JOSEPH: I am, Your Honor.

4 Thank you.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Oh, and before

6 you get started, Mr. Joseph.

From facilities again. There is a

8 door that is directly at the back of the room.

9 That is an exit. And no chairs can block that
10 door. There's a door over there that says "Not

11 an Exit." It's okay to sit in front of that
12 one, just not in front of the one that'
13 directly in the center at the back. Thank you.

MR. JOSEPH: Thank you, Your Honors.

15 And good afternoon.

16 My name is Bruce Joseph. I am here

17 today representingthe National Association of

18 Broadcasters,which is appearingin this case

19 on behalf of its members who are simulcasting

20 their radio stations over the Internet and

21 those who would consider simulcasting their
22 radio stations over the Internet if the

23 economicspermitted it.
24 Today it's just me. I don't have

25 any handouts. No dogs. No ponies. You'l
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1 just have to take whatever it is that I say, I

2 guess.
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CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: At your peril.
MR. JOSEPH: I understand,and I'm

5 willing to assume the risk.
This afternoon I am going give you a

7 preview of the evidence that NAB expects to

8 presentin this case to show why that evidence

9 will support. a rate for simulcastingof no more

10 than .05 cents per performancewith no

11 percentageof revenuecomponent.

First I will discusswhat

13 simulcasting is and why even SoundExchange's

14 witnessesadmit that simulcasting is
15 significantly different from the other services

16 that are participating in this proceeding.

17 I will introduce you to NAB's

18 broadcasterwitnessesand summarize the

19 highlights of what they will tell you about

20 their businesses.

21 Second, I will dive into the

22 economics, introducing ProfessorMichael Katz,

23 NAB's lead economic expert and will describe

24 his testimony in which he elaborateson the

25 economic significance of competition and
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1 explains why sound recordings'rimary
2 benchmark in this case does not reflect

153

3 competitive rates.
Professor Katz will also testif y

5 that even correcting for just some of the flaws

6 in SoundExchange'sbenchmarkanalysis would

7 result in rates at a level of those proposedby

8 NAB.

Third, I will discuss the evidence

10 that will show that SoundExchange'sproposal

11 for a greater— of fee is neither economically

12 supportablenor administrativelyviable for

13 simulcasting.

14 Finally, I will discuss the evidence

15 demonstratingwhy SoundExchange' late— f ound

16 Apple benchmarkshould be rejectedand why

17 neither the existing Web III rates nor the

18 NAB/SoundExchangeWebcasterSettlementAct

19 agreementare valid indicia of effectively
20 competitive license fees.

21 So what is simulcasting? It'
22 radio. The only significant difference is that
23 you'l hear it over the Internet rather than

24 over the air. And thus it has everything that
25 radio has.
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Now, every other service in this
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2 proceedingis claiming to be radio.

3 Simulcastingreally is. It has the same on-air

4 hosts and personalitiesthat keep you company.

5 It has the same connection to the local

6 community, providing local news, traffic,
7 weather, discussionsof community events and

8 emergencyinformation in a crisis. And yes, it
9 does have the same music introducedand

10 promoted by the same trusted DJs whose

11 endorsementsthe major record companiesgo to

12 enormous lengths to obtain, as even Mr.

13 Pomerantzconcedes.

So music is a part of radio and of

15 simulcasting. But unlike most of the services

16 in the benchmarkand target markets that will
17 be discussedhere in this proceeding,

18 simulcasting is not just a music service.

19 You won' hear much about

20 simulcasting in SoundExchange'spresentation.
21 It doesn't fit into SoundExchange'stheory of

22 the case. The foundation of SoundExchange's

23 case is that customizedWebcastingsubstitutes
24 for other record company revenue streams, is
25 not promotional of sound recording sales, is
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1 not like radio, and has functions that are

2 convergingwith interactive on-demandservices
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Whatever the validity of that thesis

4 for custom Webcasting — — and I'm confident that

5 the other serviceswill have something to say

6 about that — — the evidencewill show that
7 SoundExchange'spremisesare simply false for

8 simulcasting.

As NAB's witnesseswill explain,

10 simulcasting is not customized. It is not

11 influenced by the user. It is the same program

12 for everyone chosenby the broadcaster. It is
13 not converging with on— demand streaming. It is
14 just like radio.

15 It does not substitute for CD sales
16 or downloads. It promotes them. And there is
17 no evidence that it substitutesfor

18 subscriptionon— demand streaming.

19 And the music that a station decides

20 to play is only part of the reason that
21 listeners choose simulcastsof their favorite
22 radio stations
23 If you really wanted to listen to

24 just music, there are lots of other places to

25 find it. Moreover, the use of music varies
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1 widely among simulcasters. And the right to

2 play music is not what differentiatesradio

3 stations.
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SoundExchange'sown witnesses

5 recognize the difference between simulcasting

6 and other forms of Webcasting.

For example, SoundExchange'sfirst
8 witness tomorrow will be Dennis Kooker of

9 Sonny. His written direct testimony draws what

10 he calls a fundamentaldistinction -- those are

11 his words -- between streamingservices

12 mirroring terrestrial radio and services

13 enabling customizedmusic access.

Of course simulcastingmirrors

15 terrestrial radio. And it is still
16 fundamentallydistinct from on-demandservices

17 There is more that I'l be able to

18 discuss in closed sessionregardingwhat

19 SoundExchange'switnesseshave said, but they

20 were mostly said in depositions,which the

21 parties are still treating as restricted. So

22 I'l reserve that.
23 But the key point is that even the

24 evidence from SoundExchange

25 CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: To be sure the
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1 folks in the back car hear, can you move that

2 microphone, just to get closer. Is that okay?
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MR. JOSEPH: Sure.

CHIEF JUDGE BURNETT: Great.

5 Thanks.

MR. JOSEPH: Or I can even, perhaps

7 easier, move myself a bit closer to the

8 microphone

The key point is that the evidence

10 from SoundExchangewill be that simulcasting is
11 different and different. in ways that matter for

12 setting rates.
13 Now, NAB's fact witnesseswill not

14 be a parade of lawyers, like three of the four

15 major label witnesses. Rather, you will hear

16 from real broadcasterswho will tell you about

17 the industry to which they have devoted their
18 professionallives, broadcasterssuch as John

19 Dimick, senior vice presidentof programming

20 and operationsof Lincoln Financial Media, has

21 35 years in the radio industry; Robert Kocak,

22 the vice presidentof program developmentat

23 GreaterMedia, who was known professionallyas

24 Buzz Knight, and is another 35—plus— year

25 veteranof the industry; Steve Newberry, the
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1 chief executive officer of Commonwealth
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2 Broadcastingof Kentucky, who began his career

3 in radio at the age of 14, worked on the air in

4 high school and college, and later founded

5 Commonwealthalmost 20 years ago; Julie Koehn,

6 the presidentand generalmanagerof Hemingway

7 Broadcastingin Adrian, Minnesota, who has held

8 her current position for 25 years; Ben Downs,

9 the vice presidentand generalmanagerof Bryan

10 Broadcastingof College Station, Texas, who has

11 over 45 years'xperiencein radio; and Johnny

12 Chiang, who heads up Cox Radio's country

13 stations in the Houston, Texas market.

On the buyer side of the willing
15 buyer/willing seller standard,Mr. Dimick and

16 Mr. Downs will testify that simulcast streaming

17 is not profitable for their companiesand never

18 has been, primarily due to the cost of sound

19 recording royalties; and the fact that, despite
20 their efforts, advertiserssimply are not

21 willing to pay significant amounts for ads on

22 their streams. That, of course, dramatically
23 affects what a buyer would be willing to pay.

NAB witnesseswill also describehow

25 the successof a radio station, even a
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1 music— formatted radio station, does not depend

2 primarily on music. All stations have access

3 to the same music.
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Rather, successdependsprimarily on

5 how the station differentiates itself from

6 other radio stationsby developing a

7 relationshipwith its listeners through on— air
8 personalities,community programming and

9 community outreach, among other things.

10 That testimony will be supportedby

11 ordinary course of businessdocumentsand

12 studies showing that programming elementsother

13 than music, including the ones I'e just
14 mentioned, contribute much of the value of

15 radio programming. That should be contrasted

16 with servicesoffering only music programming.

17 In addition, NAB will present the

18 results of a commission survey by Professor

19 Dominique Hanssens,distinguishedprofessorof

20 marketing at UCLA. That survey, his survey,

21 confirms that the importance of nonmusic

22 programming on radio also applies to

23 sxmulcastzng.

The evidencewill thus show that
25 simulcastingshould be contrastedwith services
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1 that offer only music programming. And

2 contrary to Mr. Huffy's assertionthat you'l
3 see in his written direct testimony, that, with

4 simulcasting, as with radio, it's not, quote

5 all about the music, close quote.
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Now, Ms. Koehn and Mr. Newberry will

7 also highlight the importanceof their
8 station'scommunity programming and community

9 service.

10 Ms. Koehn will explain how she would

11 like to better serve her station' community by

12 providing accessto its programming online but

13 has decidednot to do so primarily due to sound

14 recording royalties. Becauseher station is
15 not streamed,her community loses, and the

16 public loses.

17 Mr. Dimick and Mr. Knight will

18 and others will provide -- will also describe

19 the enormouspromotional benefit and the

20 promotional value that radio broadcastsprovide

21 to artists and record labels and how labels and

22 artists undertakeextensiveefforts to cause

23 broadcastersto play their recording.

And as Mr. Dimick will explain, the

25 context of the simulcaststream is the same as
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1 the content of the broadcast; thus, ear for

2 ear, it provides the same promotional benefits

3 to record companiesand artists.
The value of the record company

5 the value to the record companiesof radio

6 airplay is confirmed in industry studies and by

7 the record companies'wnbehavior and as

8 reflected in the labels'wntestimony and

9 documents.

10 Mr. Pomerantzconcedesthis is true
11 He could scarcely do otherwise.

12 Numerous industry studies show the

13 importance of radio for music discovery. Radio

14 is the primary source of music discovery. And

15 if you don't discover it, you don't buy it.
16 Declarationssubmitted in this case

17 by high— level executivesof all three major

18 labels, in their efforts to avoid discovery

19 from their radio promotion departments,stated
20 that their companieshad multiple promotion

21 departmentsemploying hundred of people in the

22 aggregatewhose job it was to try to get their
23 recordings on the radio.

NAB will also presentevidence of

25 the large sums of money that the record
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1 companiesspend to promote their recordings to

2 radio. And there'sa simple economic fact. If
3 it weren't worth it to them, they wouldn'

4 spend that money.
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Now, there'sa bit more that I'l
6 discuss in closed session,but we'l come back

7 to that.
And as I will discussshortly, this

9 promotional benefit would be reflected in an

10 effectively competitive market by lower royalty
11 rates.
12 Now, as we'e all been waiting for,
13 to the economics.

In addition to its broadcaster

15 witnesses,NAB will present the expert

16 testimony of ProfessorMichael Katz from the

17 University of California at Berkeley. You'l
18 notice there seems to be a surfeit of Berkeley

19 economistsin this case, and we have ours.

20 He's a leading expert in the

21 economicsof industrial organization, which

22 includes the study of competition and pricing
23 as well as antitrust and regulatorypolicy.
24 ProfessorKatz has served as the

25 chief economistof the Federal Communications
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1 Commission and more recently as the top

2 economistat the JusticeDepartment, a position

3 responsiblefor merger and nonmerger

4 competition analysis and enforcement.
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Your Honors have recognizedthat the

6 goal of this exercise that we'e embarkedupon

7 is to set prices that would exist in a

8 hypothetical, effectively competitive market

9 for sound recording devices. That standardis
10 central to this entire case.

The evidencewill show that the

12 servicesembrace it. SoundExchangedoes not.

13 You will be able to contrast the

14 presentationsof ProfessorKatz, who elaborates

15 on the economic significanceof effectively
16 competitive markets and why they are the

17 paradigm that rate setting should strive to

18 achieve.

19 We'l be able to contrast that with

20 the testimony of SoundExchange' lead

21 economist, ProfessorDaniel Rubinfeld, who in

22 his direct testimony, the testimony in which he

23 develops SoundExchange'srate proposal, never

24 even once mentions the need for rates to

25 reflect an effectively competitive market. He
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1 ignores it.
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ProfessorKatz will testify that

3 economistshave long recognizedthe value of

4 competition. Under competitive conditions,

5 consumersbenefit, and the net welfare of

6 society's resourcesare maximized. Competition

7 among sellers gives consumers,both businesses

8 and individuals, the benefits of lower prices,
9 higher quality products and services,more

10 choices and greater innovation.

ProfessorKatz will describehow, in

12 an effectively competitive market, prices are

13 driven down towards -- not to but towards

14 sellers'arginalcosts. And those costs

15 include what economistscall opportunity costs,
16 the affect of a sale or a license on the other

17 revenuestreamsof a seller.
18 For example, where a buyer'

19 activity substitutesfor other salesand thus

20 reducesthe seller's other revenues,a seller
21 in a competitive market will charge that buyer

22 more.

23 ProfessorKatz will testify that
24 opportunity cost can also be negative. Think

25 of it as opportunity benefits. And when that
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1 happens, that will reduce the amount that a

2 seller in an effectively competitive market

3 will charge, for example, where a buyer'

4 activity, such as simulcast streaming, promotes

5 other revenue streamsof the seller.
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ProfessorKatz will explain that, if
7 you are comparing license fees for two

8 different types of services, you must account

9 for these differences in opportunity costs and

10 benefits. It is not enough to suggest, as Mr.

11 Pomerantz, did that the interactive agreements

12 internalize the promotional and substitutional
13 effects of interactive serviceswithout

14 consideringany differencesbetween interactive
15 and noninteractiveservices in that regard.

Now, ProfessorKatz will explain the

17 hallmark of competition is that buyers have the

18 ability to substitutethe offerings of one

19 seller for another. That's what competition is
20 all about. It is this possibility of

21 substitution that drives sellers to offer

22 higher quality and lower prices in order to

23 attract buyers to themselvesrather than their
24 rivals.
25 I was struck by how well Mr.

(866) 448 — DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 04-27-2015

1 Pomerantzhimself put it. That's what

2 competitorsdo. They try to take customers

3 away from each other.
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But a market where that kind of

5 rivalry, that kind of substitutiondoes not

6 exist is not a competitive market. Simplest

7 case should go without saying that a

8 monopolizedmarket is not competitive. There

9 are no sellers to compete with a monopoly.

10 Moreover, as ProfessorKatz will
11 show, a monopolizedmarket does not become

12 effectively competitive even if, contrary to

13 the facts here, a buyer has its own market

14 power facing a monopoly. That's just not

15 competition.

16 And as Your Honors recognizedin Web

17 III, and as ProfessorKatz will testify,
18 suppliers of what economistscall complementary

19 products do not compete with each other.

20 Indeed, economics tells us that the sellers of

21 complementaryproducts will actually set price
22 that, in the aggregate,exceedeven those of a

23 monopolist.

Now, the primary benchmarkon which

25 ProfessorRubinfeld and SoundExchangeseem to
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1 rely in this case is the same one on which

2 SoundExchangeprimarily relied in Web II and

3 again relied upon in Web III, licenses in which

4 the major record companies licensed interactive
5 on— demand streamingservices.
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ProfessorKatz will demonstrate

7 these agreementsare decidedly not the result
8 of competitive forces, and as a result, that
9 SoundExchange'sbenchmark is not a sound basis

10 for rate setting.
He will then. demonstratethe serious

12 methodological flaws in Dr. Rubinfeld'

13 analysis, even taking it at its own word on its
14 face, resulted in a severeoverstatementof the

15 rates that are implied even by that
16 noncompetitivebenchmark.

17 Indeed, correcting for just the

18 easily quantifiable errors committed by

19 ProfessorRubinfeld, ProfessorKatz shows that
20 the interactive benchmarkwould result in a

21 rate of .06 cents per performance,not the

22 .$ 0.26 per performancethat ProfessorRubinfeld

23 claims is what it shows.

And that rate doesn'teven reflect
25 adjustmentsfor the numerous other flaws in
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1 Dr. Rubinfeld's analysis that are not so easily
2 quantified. But I'l come back to that.
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Let's start with the overarching

4 issue of competition.

In Web III, Your Honors observed

6 that the parties had not presentedevidence to

7 enable you to decide whether the catalogsof

8 the major record companieswere complementsor

9 substitutes. Well, you now have that evidence.

10 And you have it specifically for the very

11 interactive service licenseson which

12 SoundExchangeis purporting -- attempting to

13 relay in this case. The major recordlabels'4
catalogsare complementsthey do not compete.

15 In Mr. Pomerantz'swords, they do not try to

16 take customersaway from each other.

17 You'l hear the testimony of

18 ProfessorRubinfeld in this case that the

19 repertoiresof the majors are complements. And

20 then, as Mr. Rich alluded to in his opening

21 in fact, he showed me some of the language, and

22 I'l show you more in our closed session-- we

23 have extensiveevidence from the mouths of

24 Universal Music Group and ProfessorRubinfeld

25 himself when they successfullyadvocatedto the
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1 Federal Trade Commission that it should approve

2 the proposedmerger between-- that it was

3 investigatingbetweenUMG and EMI, two of the

4 then four major labels.
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We also have the evidencepresented

6 to the FTC by Mr. Pomerantzas counsel to

7 Universal. And the evidencepresentedto the

8 FTC is clear: that the catalogsof the major

9 record companiesare complementsfor the

10 interactive services. To be viable, the

11 servicesmust have licenses from all of the

12 majors and, the evidencesuggests,the larger
13 independents. And I don't use that word "must

14 have" lightly. It is all over the evidence

15 that you will see in this case.

Now, the interactive servicesmust

17 have each of the majors. The majors don'

18 compete. And the license fees they charge are

19 not effectively competitive.

20 And indeed, as you have recognized,

21 economicstells us that complementswill, in

22 the -- sellers of complementaryproduct will,
23 in the aggregate,charge more than even a

24 monopoly seller of all of the rights. And

25 there is no way you can construe that as an
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What was the FTC doing when it
3 looked at the Universal/EMI merger? It was

4 reviewing the merger to determinewhether it
5 would lessenthe competition in any market,

6 including the market in which the record

7 companies license interactive services.

The FTC approved the merger,

9 concluding that it would not lessencompetition

10 because-- and this is worth reading -- in the

11 words of the FTC, commission staff found

12 considerableevidence that each leading

13 interactive streamingservice must carry the

14 music of each major to be competitive. Because

15 each major currently controls recordedmusic

16 necessaryfor these streamingservices. The

17 music is more complementarythan substitutable
18 in this context, leaded to limited competition

19 betweenUMG and EMI.

20 In other words -- and frankly,

21 really ironically -- the merger -- FTC found

22 that the merger wouldn't lessencompetition in

23 licensing interactive servicesbecausethere

24 simply was no competition to lessen.

25 Now, the FTC didn't reach that
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1 conclusion sua sponte. Universal, Professor

2 Rubinfeld and Mr. Pomerantzproved it to them.

3 And indeed, the documentssubmittedby those

4 folks to the FTC are compelling. And I will

5 discuss them in greaterdetail in a closed

6 session.
But now that we have this evidence,

8 it demonstratesthat there is no economic

9 validity to SoundExchange'sprimary benchmark

10 in this case becausethe licensesare not the

11 result of an effectively competitive market.

12 Now, Mr. Pomerantzsuggestedthat
13 there will be evidence that counters the

14 showings that they made to the FTC. That

15 piracy imposes some constraintson the price
16 that downstreamservicescan charge.

17 But the evidencewill show,

18 ProfessorKatz will testify, that the fact that
19 there may be some downstreamconstraintdoesn'

20 mean that the upstreammarket is competitive.

Mr. Pomerantzsays the evidencewill
22 show that there are negotiationsbetweenmajor

23 record companiesand services. But. as even

24 Dr. Rubinfeld admits, even monopolistsengaged

25 in negotiationswith their customers. The
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1 existenceof some give and take doesn' mean

2 that a market is competitive.
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And Mr. Pomerantzalso argues that
4 its relevant that the major record companies

5 would have the same market power, would also be

6 must-haves,in licensing statutoryservices.

Now, we'l have a legal dispute

8 about the significance of that that I don'

9 want to get into in my opening. But the

10 economic evidencewill show that a hypothetical
11 market in which the record companiesdon'

12 compete cannot be construedas a hypothetical
13 effectively competitivemarket, which is the

14 task that you all are settling.
15 Now, ProfessorKatz will also

16 demonstratethat the lack of effective
17 competition is not the only problem with

18 Dr. Rubinfeld's analysis of the interactive
19 servicesbenchmarkon which SoundExchange

20 relies.
21 Dr. Rubinfeld committed serious

22 methodologicalerrors that inflated his

23 recommendedrate by a factor of over four and a

24 half. Adjusting for only the easily
25 quantifiable errors, ProfessorKatz will

(866)448 - DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 04-27-2015

1 demonstratethat the interactive benchmark,

2 even only partially corrected, points to a rate

3 of .06 cents per performance,not the .$0.26

4 claimed by Dr. Rubinfeld.
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ProfessorKatz will show that

6 Dr. Rubinfeld's assumptionthat interactive and

7 statutory serviceswere paid the same

8 percentageof their revenue, an assumptionthat

9 was essentialto Dr. Rubinfeld's analysis, was

10 wholly unsupportedby Dr. Rubinfeld and lacks

11 any economic validity.
12 Simply changing that assumptionto a

13 more economically supportableassumptionthat
14 the two services -- two types of serviceswill
15 pay the same percentageof their profits
16 results -- rather than revenuesresults in the

17 dramatic reduction of the license fees implied

18 by Dr. Rubinfeld's interactivebenchmark.

ProfessorKatz will also demonstrate

20 that Dr. Rubinfeld failed properly to account

21 for the fact that interactive service benchmark

22 license fees are largely driven by subscription

23 revenuesand that statutory servicesare

24 overwhelmingly nonsubscription.

25 ProfessorKatz will demonstrate
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1 that, if you account for the different revenues

2 earnedby subscriptionan nonsubscription

3 services in a way that properly reflects the

4 mix between the two types of services,
5 interactive and noninteractive,you

6 dramatically reduce the license fee implied for

7 nonsubscriptionservicesby Dr. Rubinfeld's

8 interactive benchmark.
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ProfessorKatz will also show that
10 Dr. Rubinfeld inflated his benchmarkrate by

11 artificially overweighting the higher royalty
12 bearing rate and unweighting the lower royalty
13 performances. And if you just correct for

14 those three, as ProfessorKatz shows, using

15 Dr. Rubinfeld's own data, you wind up with a

16 recommendedrate of .06 cents per performance.

17 You actually will have the tools to do that if
18 you want to.

And that still doesn'tcorrect for

20 the numerous other flaws in Dr. Rubinfeld's

21 analysis that inflate his proposedrate but

22 that are more difficult to quantify. Professor

23 Katz discussesthese additional flaws in

24 detail. I'e already talked about the lack of

25 effective competition in the benchmarkmarket.
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Also, ProfessorKatz testifies to
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2 the fact that interactive servicesare more

3 substitutionaland less promotional of other

4 record companies'evenuesstreams than

5 statutory services in general and simulcasting

6 in part.icular.
Those differences, those differences

8 in opportunity costs, would be reflected in

9 pricing in an effectively competitive market.

10 And finally, Dr. Rubinfeld fails to

11 account for the differences in the relative
12 contribution of music to all music— on— demand

13 servicesand part-music simulcasting. We'e

14 already talked about that a little bit. In

15 other words, even the .06 cents per-performance

16 rate is conservative.

17 In his direct testimony, Professor

18 Katz reachesa similar conclusion -- it'l be a

19 while before you hear that -- estimating limits
20 on the bounds of reasonablerates. He actually
21 doesn', as Mr. Pomerantzsaid, actually give

22 you the bounds of reasonablerates. He gives

23 you numbers that he believes are beyond the

24 bounds of reasonablerates so that you'e
25 inside of that.
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2 highlights the economic value of the

3 promotional benefits conferredby simulcasting

4 on record companiesand artist and concludes

5 that they would drive competitive license rates
6 for simulcastingdown to very low levels.

Now, Mr. Pomerantz, for a reason I

8 don't understand,mischaracterizedwhat Dr.

9 Katz said. He did not say that, "I'm going to

10 rely on the fact that there'sa statutory zero

11 rate for terrestrial ratio." He specifically
12 looked at the market behavior of the

13 participantsrelated to radio to conclude that
14 the evidence suggestedthat, if there were such

15 a market, the rates would be very close to

16 zero.

17 He also considersthe possible use

18 of the rates that Your Honors set in the most

19 recent satellite radio case as a benchmarkand

20 concludes that the 13 percentof revenue rate
21 used in that case, which was based in large
22 measureon the flawed interactive service

23 benchmark, exceedsthe upper bounds of the

24 reasonablerate. Those were the bounds he set
25 in his direct testimony.
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Now, NAB will also presentexpert
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2 testimony that Dr. Rubinfeld's reliance on a

3 survey performedby ProfessorMcFadden, as

4 mentionedby Mr. Pomerantz, to corroboratehis

5 interactivity adjustment, is misplaced.

ProfessorJohn Hauser, the Kirin

7 professorof marketing at MIT's Sloan School of

8 Management,will testify that Dr. McFadden's

9 survey data are not reliable.
10 Among other flaws, ProfessorHauser

11 will testify that the survey relied on

12 complicated feature descriptionsthat were

13 long, overlapping, jargon heavy, and prone to

14 confusion, requiring careful evaluationof the

15 Respondent'sunderstanding,and evaluationof

16 ProfessorMcFadden failed to implement.

17 ProfessorHauser will testify that
18 his qualitative study of those featured

19 descriptionsindicated that the vast majority
20 of respondentslikely were confusedby one or

21 more of ProfessorMcFadden'sfeature
22 definitions.
23 NAB will also present, along with

24 Pandora-- and by the way, NAB is presenting
25 ProfessorHauser along with iHeart.
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We'e also presenting,along with
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2 Pandora, Dr. Steven Peterson,an expert

3 economistwho also specializesin industrial
4 organization. And he will testify that
5 ProfessorRubinfeld misuses the results of

6 ProfessorMcFadden'ssurvey.

Dr. Petersonwill demonstratethat
8 ProfessorMcFadden estimatesof the average

9 consumerwillingness to pay for the features
10 that he testedmask great individual divergence

11 and cannot be used to provide insight: into
12 market price or how consumerswould respondto

13 market prices.
14 Dr. Petersonwill also respondto

15 SoundExchange'switness Dr. David Blackburn and

16 demonstratethat Dr. Blackburn's claims that
17 the Webcasting industry is healthy and that
18 existing rates are not choking off growth based

19 on -- I'm sorry -- are not choking off growth

20 are basedon unsoundeconomicsand lack

21 evidentiary support.

22 He will testify that even a

23 monopolist would not choke off growth. So Dr.

24 Blackburn's standardis meaninglessto the

25 in this case.
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The evidencewill also show that
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2 SoundExchangereceipts are overwhelmingly from

3 two services. And one of them, SiriusXM

4 satellite radio, for their satellite
5 operations, isn't even Webcasting. So the

6 claims of the health of the market are grossly

7 overstated.

ProfessorKatz's rebuttal testimony

9 also describeshow the flaws in Professor

10 Rubinfeld's per— performancerate proposal also

11 infect the percentageof revenueproblem of his

12 fee proposal.

13 But more fundamentally, Professor

14 Katz — — more fundamentally, Dr. Katz will

15 testify that Dr. Rubinfeld' proposed

16 greater-of fee structure that includes the

17 percentageof revenue is economically unsound,

18 inconsistentas a matter of economicswith the

19 statutory standard, and would be difficult to

20 administer, particularly for simulcasters.

21 SoundExchange'sproposedpercentage

22 of revenue fees distort the incentives to

23 innovate and improve elementsof the service

24 other than sound recording rights. Allowing

25 the recording industry to impose a significance
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1 tax on revenueattributed to or enhancedby

2 nonmusic elements of a service would diminished
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3 the incentive to improve those nonmusic

4 elements.

Second, SoundExchange'sproposed

6 percentageof revenue fee runs counter to the

7 statutorymandate that license fees reflect the

8 relative value of each party's contribution to

9 the overall value of the service.
10 Enhancementsof the service that
11 increaserevenuebut do not arise from the

12 right to perform sound recordings are

13 contributedby the service and shouldn't be

14 subject to a percentageof revenue fee paid to

15 the recording industry.
16 Third, allocation of revenue among

17 programming elements for different simulcasters

18 whose use of music varies widely would present

19 seriouspractical obstacles. Dr. Rubinfeld

20 even acknowledgedthe need to make such

21 allocationsbut didn't offer any means of doing

22 so.

23 And SoundExchange'srate proposal,

24 while it proposescertain other allocations, is
25 wholly silent about any allocation with respect
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1 to the use of music and the value of nonmusic

2 programming.

NAB will also presentProfessor

4 Roman Weil, professoremeritus of accountingat

5 the University of Chicago's, Booth School of

6 Business, who will testify that, from an

7 accountingstandpoint, the percentageof

8 revenue fee as proposedby SoundExchangeis not

9 appropriateand that it is particularly
10 inappropriatefor simulcasting.

He will describe the intractable
12 difficulties for revenueallocation the

13 percentage— of — revenue fee would impose on

14 simulcastersthat sell advertising in bundles

15 that include elements that are subject to

16 those bundles include elements that are subject
17 to the statutory license and elements that
18 aren't subject to the statutory license.

He will also testify, basedon years

20 of experience, that there is no clearly correct
21 way to allocate revenue and that revenue-based

22 fees in this context will inevitably result in

23 disputes, costs, and controverts, including the

24 cost of performing the allocation, the cost of

25 audits and the cost of potential litigation.

(866) 448 — DEPO www.CapitalReportingCompany.corn  2015



CapitalReportingCompany
In Re: Determinationof RoyaltyRates(Public) 04-27-2015

He of fers his opinion that the best
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2 way to avoid these intractableproblems is, in

3 his words, simply sticking with the current

4 per-play royalty structure for simulcasters.

Now, following the disclosureof the

6 merger documentsevidencing the lack of

7 competition for licenses in interactive
8 services, SoundExchangebelatedly attempts,

9 through Dr. Rubinfeld and only through

10 Dr. Rubinfeld, introducing new benchmark,

11 certain agreementsbetweenApple and two of the

12 major labels for its iTunes Radio services.
ProfessorEatz will show that. the

14 reliance on the Apple agreementsis not

15 reasonable,most obviously becauseProfessor

16 Rubinfeld relies entirely on retrospect.of

17 analysis and claims that the licensesreflect a

18 rate that is substantiallyhigher than the

19 statutory rate, a rate that he and other

20 SoundExchangewitnessescorrectly argue, at
21 least when they'enot talking about Apple,

22 that no service that qualified for the

23 statutory license would ever willingly pay. In

24 other words, ProfessorRubinfeld's analysis
25 shows that the proposal is absurd on its face.
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ProfessorKatz will identify
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2 numerous flaws in Dr. Rubinfeld's analysis in

3 the Apple agreement, including Dr. Rubinfeld's

4 inappropriateex post reliance on unexpected

5 results rather than the parties'xpectations
6 at the time they enteredinto the agreements;

7 Dr. Rubinfeld's inclusion of significant
8 payments in the numerator of his calculation of

9 a per-play rate that should not have been

10 included; his exclusion of significant numbers

11 of performancesin the denominatorof his

12 calculation of the per-play rate that should

13 actually have been included.

As ProfessorKatz will testify, a

15 partially correctedanalysis reveals that, far
16 from confirming the reasonablenessof the

17 interactive servicesbenchmark, the iTunes

18 Radio agreement.show that that benchmark is
19 unreasonablyhigh by a very significant amount.

20 Moreover, ProfessorKatz will

21 explain that there are important additional

22 factors that bias Dr. Rubinfeld' analysis

23 upward to a significance degree, rendering the

24 Apple benchmarksan invalid benchmark.

25 ProfessorKatz also discusses
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1 whether the existing statutory rates provide a

2 reasonablebasis for fee setting. And he

3 concludesthat they do not.
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He will testify that the existing

5 rates as set in Web III, as Your Honor knows

6 are the direct result of what we believe will

7 be the discreditedinteractive service

8 benchmark, and certain WebcasterSettlementAct

9 agreementsthat were themselvesthe products of

10 the rates set in Web II -- but the rates set in

11 Web II were, in turn, the result of again what

12 we believe will be the discreditedinteractive
13 service benchmark.

In other words, Dr. Katz will

15 testify that today's rates are a direct result
16 of Web II and the invalid interactive services

17 benchmarkon which SoundExchangehas

18 consistentlyrelied.
19 Moreover, ProfessorKatz will

20 identify methodologicalerrors and other flaws

21 with SoundExchange'sinteractive service

22 benchmarkanalysis in Web II. The invitation
23 is not to relitigate Web II but to show, with

24 evidence that we now have, that the rate that
25 sprung forth from Web II, which have brought us
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1 where we are today, are not a reasonablebasis

2 to look forward.
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Among other things, for example,

4 ProfessorKatz will show how, with the benefit
5 of hindsight, it is now clear that
6 SoundExchange'sWeb II expert, Dr. Michael

7 Pelcovitz, improperly basedhis analysis on

8 data for a nascentindustry that was not in

9 equilibrium. Indeed, of the seven interactive
10 servicesof which Dr. Pelcovitz relied for his

11 analysis, only one is still in business

12 Now, the evidencewill also show

13 that the NAB/SoundExchangeWebcasterSettlement

14 Act Agreement is not a valid benchmark.

15 As broadcasterwitness Steven

16 Newberry, who was part of the negotiating team

17 for that agreement,will testify, the agreement

18 was the direct result of the outcome of Web II,
19 which was viewed as a major setback for

20 streamingby broadcasters.

21 He will describehow the NAB

22 negotiatorsbelieved that they enteredthe

23 negotiationswith no leverage and that
24 broadcastersdid not contribute -- consider

25 another trip to the CRB, at that time, Your
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1 Honor, to be a viable alternative.
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ProfessorKatz will examine the same

3 agreementfrom the standpointof economics.

4 And he will conclude that it did not reflect
5 the outcome of an effectively competitive

6 market. He concludesthat SoundExchange

7 possessedmonopoly power, that NAB's decision

8 not to litigate was consistentwith sound

9 economic reasoning, that the precedential
10 effect of the agreementfurther biased the

11 rates upward, and more generally that the

12 exclusion of other WebcasterSettlementAct

13 agreementsfrom considerationcreatesa

14 selectionbias that rendersthe available
15 agreementsinappropriateto serve as

16 benchmarks.

17 ProfessorKatz will also explain why

18 the fact that numerousbroadcasterssigned up

19 for the agreementdoes not speak to whether the

20 agreementreflects an effectively competitive

21 market. Rather it reflects only that the

22 broadcastersperceivedthat they lacked a

23 better alternative.
As a generalmatter, the fact that a

25 monopolist makes sales to buyers at a monopoly
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1 price doesn'tmean that the monopoly price is
2 competitive. It's as simple as that.
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Now, Dr. Rubinfeld chose not to rely
4 on the NAB WebcasterSettlementAct in his

5 direct testimony. In his rebuttal he admits

6 that the WebcasterSettlementAct Agreements

7 were negotiatedin a unique context, his words,

8 that differs from the hypotheticalmarket at
9 issue here. But he does say they are

10 nonetheless,in his words, instructive.
Well, the evidencewill show that

12 they are instructive only about what a party
13 will agree to pay when it perceivesthat it has

14 no realistic alternative. That is not what a

15 willing buyer would pay a willing seller in an

16 effectively competitive market.

17 To summarize, Your Honors, the

18 evidencewill show that simulcastinghas always

19 been and is still radio. It is different in

20 key respectsfrom other forms of Webcasting.

21 It is not customized, and it is not converging

22 with interactive service.

Simulcasting, like radio, is highly

24 promotional of record company revenue streams.

25 Moreover, a percentageof revenue-basedfee as
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1 proposedby SoundExchange,or SoundExchange's

2 proposedgreater— of fee, including a percentage

3 of revenue, would create intractable
4 difficulties, controversyand unwarranted

5 costs.
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As a result, license fees for

7 simulcastersshould be set on a per-performance

8 basis and should be at or near the low end of

9 any range of reasonablerates.
10 NAB submits that the evidencewill
11 support a rate of .05 cents per performance;

12 and that, to the extent there is any percentage

13 of revenue— based fee adopted for other

14 services, it should not be applied to

15 simulcasters.

Thank you, Your Honor. I'l
17 continue with, sometime in the closed session,

18 probably about ten more minutes.

19

20

21

CH IE F JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you .

I belive iHeart is up next.

MR. HANSEN: Very briefly, Your

22 Honors

23 As I said in our telephone

24 conference, iHeart is very eager to make a

25 presentationto the Court. But to do so we
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1 need to show the Court what the evidencewill

2 be. And largely that evidencehas been marked

3 restrictedby the record labels.
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So in this public part of our

5 proceeding, I'm only going to say the

6 following:

We are here to propose a very

8 different rate. I think Mr. Pomerantz's

9 conventional rate of 5, not 25. But we'e
10 basing it on a record of thick deals in this
11 market for the first time before a panel of the

12 CRB. Never had that evidencebefore.

13 That evidence, which we'd like to

14 show you here, but the record labels won't let
15 us show you here, proves our point about these

16 deals, that willing buyers and willing sellers
17 agree to an incrementalprice to spend. Why do

18 they do that? We'e going to prove that to you

19 too.

20 The word is "promotion." Radio

21 promotes. Digital radio industry. And that'
22 going to be proved too.

23 Again, how are we going to prove it?
24 Through the record labels'wndocumentsand

25 witnesses. Becausethey know it as much as we
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1 know it. And we can show you their documents,

2 which we can't do in this public setting. They

3 won't let them be shown here. You'e going to

4 see they recognize that as well.
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We also know, and we'e going to

6 show you through their documents, that they

7 know these rates that we'e paying now are too

8 high. They'e strangling an industry. They

9 need to restructure— — restructurebroadcaster

10 Webcastereconomics in order to have a viable

11 Webcasterindustry, which benefits them through

12 promotion.

13 The promotion you'e going to hear

14 about in detail in my presentation,which I

15 hope to give today, if we have time, is going

16 to be strongly focused on empirical evidence

17 and their documentsshowing that we are the key

18 to music discovery.

19 We, the digital broadcasting,the

20 broadcasting,radio industry is absolutely

21 fundamentalto the sales of the record

22 industry. And they know it. They just don'

23 want to admit it here.

24 We also know that everything — — or

25 virtually everything the record labels do in
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1 this arena is done with a eye toward how it
2 will play here in this proceeding. They don'

3 do anything with.out thinking about how it'
4 going to play.

And what we'e going prove to you

6 and I'm going to be done here in a minute

7 but I think you'e going to see something

8 dramatic and remarkable.

There are effectively two camps

10 within the record labels. There's the camp

11 you'e going to hear in this courtroom. Those

12 are the digital rights folks, the lawyers. And

13 they'e going to tell the story, "Oh, this is
14 basically a world of — — everybody is converging

15 on everybody, and there'sonly going to be

16 music subscribers,and we just got to scrub

17 every last nickel we can from the subscribers."
18 Then there's the businesspeople on

19 the record labels. They'e not coming. But

20 we'e going to show you their documents. What

21 the rec — — what the businesspeople are going

22 to tell you is, "We see the benefits of

23 promotion. We wish to expandmusic sales. We

24 wish to promote new artists."
25 And those businesspeople, when they
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1 can get out from under the digital rights
2 people, who are going to choke this off, make

3 these 29 deals that prove to the market price

4 becausethey want the benefits of promoting;

5 they want the incrementalpromotional

6 opportunitiesprovided by thesemarket deals.
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And you'e going to see that they

8 are very different in their view of the world

9 from the people whose only perspectiveis, "How

10 I do keep these rates high, theseunjustifiable
11 leveragedrates?" And you'l see that word

12 used.

13 They use rates as leveragebecause

14 they have the upper hand. They see the rates
15 as essentiallyeffectively set to benefit the

16 record industry. And we'e going to show you

17 documentswhere they say that.
18 So we would like to be able to

19 review all this powerful evidence right here

20 and now, but we can'. We have to follow the

21 rules. I'm very eager to bring that
22 information to you.

23 I'm going to stop now. I'm going to

24 reserve the rest of my time for our restricted
25 session.
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And I thank you very much for your
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2 attention and look forward to presentingmy

3 full opening statementat that time.

CHIEF JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

Mr. Fakler on behalf of SiriusXM.

MR. FEELER: Good afternoon, Your

7 Honors

SiriusXM will presentone witness in

9 that proceeding-- in this proceeding, and that
10 witness will be David Frear. Mr. Frear is the

11 chief financial officer of SiriusXM Radio.

12 And Mr. Frear will testify on three

13 primary points. The first point is that the

14 SiriusXM WebcasterSettlementAct, or WSA

15 settlementagreement,does not accurately

16 reflect the fair market value of the license at

17 issue in this proceeding.

And that's becausethe set of

19 that's due to a set of circumstancesthat
20 SiriusXM found itself in at the time of those

21 negotiationsthat had nothing to do with the

22 value of the license but dictated the outcome

23 of those negotiations.
24 The secondprimary point, which

25 flows from the first, is that, in the absence
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1 of any other benchmark, and to the extent that
2 the judges do look to the WSA settlementrates
3 for the purposesof setting the rates in this
4 proceeding, the entry point of those rates, the

5 first year rate, .16 cents per performance,

6 should set the upper bound of any range

7 reasonablerange of fair market value.

And the third primary point to which

9 Mr. Frear will testify is that the use of

10 percentof revenue to calculate the royalties
11 acrossall types of commercial Webcasterswould

12 be both unworkable and unfair.
Turning to the first point. relating

14 to the SiriusXM WSA settlementagreement.

15 SiriusXM's circumstanceat the time of that
16 negotiationput in a position where its only

17 rational option was to acceptwhatever rates
18 were offered by SoundExchange.

19 Those rates did representa

20 decrease,after all, to the Web II rates that
21 were in effect. And any decrease,however

22 slight, was preferableto no decreaseor, even

23 worse, the cost of another rate proceeding.

24 When Sirius -- Sirius and XM,

25 becausethey were separatecompaniesat the
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1 time, when they first introduced their Internet

2 radio services, they were essentially
3 simulcastingtheir satellite channelsover the

4 Internet for free at a lower sound quality.
5 And they were doing this largely for promotion.

6 The idea was that the free accessto the

7 reducedquality service would drive

8 subscriptionsto the satellite service.

195

But then in 2007, the copyright

10 royalty judges releasedtheir determinationsin

11 the WebcastingII proceeding. That rate
12 determinationalmost tripled the rates during

13 the term of that rate period that would be

14 applicable to Webcasters.

15 In the wake of that massive rate
16 increase,SiriusXM phasedout the free access

17 to their Internet radio service and made it
18 available only to subscribers.

19 That change led to a drastic
20 decreasein usage of the Internet radio

21 services. It also led to a drastic decreasein

22 the royalties paid to SoundExchange.

23 In -- and of course the

24 WebcastingII -- drastic increasein the

25 WebcastingII rate determinationwas going to
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1 cause tremendousproblems for the entire
2 Webcastingmarket. And for that reason,

3 congressgot involved with Webcasters

4 SettlementAgreement.

196

That legislation allowed Webcasters

6 and SoundExchangeto negotiatereduction to the

7 Web II rates and also to come up with rates
8 that would roll forward into the Web III rate
9 period. So naturally SiriusXM took advantage

10 of that legislation and began negotiationswith

11 SoundExchange.

But in those negotiations,SiriusXM

13 found itself in a perfect storm of

14 circumstanceshaving nothing to do with the

15 value of the license but which led it to

16 inevitably take any rate decreaseoffered by

17 SoundExchange.

18 On the one hand, the company was

19 suffering extreme financial distress. And on

20 the other hand, the low usage of the Internet
21 radio service and the low revenuescoming from

22 the Internet radio servicemade it such that it
23 simply was not worth fighting over.

Turning first to the financial
25 distresselement.
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At the time of the Web II rate
197

2 determination,both Sirius and XM had endured

3 years, year of sustainedlosses flowing from

4 the company's investment of billions of dollars

5 into the technology and infrastructure
6 necessaryto invent, create and grow the

7 satellite radio business.

In 2007, in order to save both

9 companies, they announcedtheir intent to

10 merge. But that merger wound up taking much

11 longer and costing far more money than anyone

12 could have anticipated. By the time the merger

13 was consummated,the companieshave spent

14 upwards of $ 150 million just on the merger

15 costs.
16 At the same time, both Sirius and XM

17 were participating in the -- spendingmillions

18 of dollar participating in the SDARS I rate
19 proceeding.

20 Now, this severe financial stress
21 didn't just disappearthe day after the merger.

22 In fact, by late 2008, company found itself
23 with insufficient cash to pay hundredsof

24 millions of dollars in debt that was going to

25 come due in February 2009.
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Unfortunately, this also coincided
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2 with the credit crisis of the country. So

3 Sirius was unable to find any financing to help

4 restructurethat debt.

As the February 2009 deadline

6 approaches,the company found itself on the

7 drink of bankruptcyand, in fact, was preparing

8 filings.
That bankruptcywas only averted in

10 the 11th hour when Liberty Media agreed to

11 provide some financing, though at a very high

12 cost and on very an onerous terms.

13 During that time period, SiriusXM's

14 stock price had plummeted. It went from $ 4 a

15 share in Januaryof 2007 to only $ 0.05 a share

16 in February 2009, which of course was right
17 before the WSA negotiationsoccurred.

18 And even shortly after the

19 negotiationswere finished, in September2009,

20 the company receiveda delisting notice from

21 NASDAQ becauseits stock had been trading at
22 such a low rate for so long.

23 So the bottom line is that, in the

24 period leading up to the negotiations,during

25 the negotiations,and even directly after the
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1 negotiations,SiriusXM was experiencing

2 profound financial distress. But at the same

3 time, the Internet radio service, which the

4 negotiationswere about, was experiencingvery,

5 very low usage, very low revenue.
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The Internet radio service for

7 SiriusXM has always been an ancillary extension

8 of its satellite radio service. Only a tiny
9 fraction of SiriusXM's subscribersever listen

10 to the Internet radio service, and that was

11 certainly true back then.

12 In fact, at the time of these

13 negotiations,even as the rates had been

14 dropped to zero, the cost savings would not

15 have justified a rate proceedingbefore the

16 copyright royalty judges.

17 Also, before SiriusXM began

18 negotiationswith SoundExchange,the NAB had

19 already concluded its WSA. And that agreement

20 was designatedas presidential.
21 So SoundExchangewas unwilling to

22 materially move off of the rates it had

23 establishedin the NAB agreement. At the end

24 of the day though, the terms that were offered

25 to SiriusXM did provide some rate relief at a
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1 time when the company was undergoing tremendous

2 financial stress.
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Becauseof all of these

4 circumstances,the only rational business

5 decision that SiriusXM could make was to take

6 whatever rate decreaseit could get, however

7 slight. The only real alternativeswere

8 staying with the higher Web II rates that were

9 already in effect or enduring an expensiverate
10 proceeding.

And that flows to the secondpart of

12 my point of Mr. Frear's t:estimony, which is
13 that, given that the WSA rates were necessarily
14 higher than what fa.ir market value would have

15 been back then, to the extent those rates are

16 consideredin this proceeding, at best they

17 should establishthe upper bounds of a

18 reasonablerange of fair market value.

And we note that, while the judges

20 did use these rates in the Web III remand as

21 one benchmark for setting the current rates for

22 commercial Webcasters,of course in that
23 proceedingthe judges didn't have the benefit
24 of any testimony or evidence from either NAB or

25 SiriusXM on the context, valuation and
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1 negotiationof those agreements.
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Turning finally to the third, which

3 is a percentageof revenue. The use of

4 percentageof revenue to calculate the rate for

5 all commercial Webcasterswould be both

6 unworkable and unfair.
The commercial Webcastingmarket is

8 a diversemarket. There are many commercial

9 Webcastersout there. Not all of them are

10 Pandora. There are different types. And as

11 you heard about the broadcasterswhen they

12 simulcast, and as SiriusXM, which is
13 predominantlya simulcastingservice as well,

14 its satellite service. And then there are all
15 sorts of models in between.

Each of these serviceshave

17 different programmingphilosophies; they have

18 different cost structures;they have different
19 featuresand functionality; they have different
20 businessmodels.

21 There's just no one-size-fits-all
22 way to calculatea percentageof revenuemetric

23 that could be fairly applied across that broad

24 spectrumof services.
25 For example, with respectto
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1 SiriusXM, it bundles its Internet radio service

2 along with the satellite radio service. Very

3 few of SiriusXM's subscriberssubscribesolely
4 to Internet radio services.
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In addition to that, SiriusXM

6 obtains revenue from various other sources

7 completely unrelatedto the public performance

8 of sound recordings through the Web. For

9 example, the sale of'adios and other

10 equipment.

But perhapsmost importantly,

12 SiriusXM broadcastsa large amount of nonmusic

13 content. And much of that nonmusic content is
14 exclusive content that people can only hear on

15 SiriusXM.

16 That's important becausethe

17 exclusive content of SiriusXM's broadcastsand

18 the wide variety of content it broadcasts,that
19 includes substant.ialmusic content, are two key

20 drivers of consumers'illingnessto pay

21 subscription fees to SiriusXM, subscriptions
22 fees that they'e shown unwillingness to pay

23 for other services.
It would be manifestly unfair for

25 SiriusXM to have to pay sound recording and
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1 Webcastingand performanceroyalties basedon

2 all of these other types of revenue that would

3 get swept up somehow in this calculation.
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And there's really no good accurate

5 way to try to apportion that revenue so that
6 you only get out a base that's truly and

7 directly related to just the Webcastingof

8 sound recordings.

Certainly any attempt at coming up

10 with a formula like that would be subject to

11 tremendousdispute and litigation. And even if
12 you could come up with an apportionmentthat
13 was accurateand that you were comfortable with

14 for SiriusXM, that same apportionmentcertainly
15 wouldn't apply to any of the other Webcasters

16 in the marketplace.

17 And, in fact, you heard

18 Mr. Pomerantzsay in his opening that
19 SoundExchangedoesn'tbelieve that there should

20 be price discrimination amongst the servicers;
21 and that the judges, when they implement a

22 rate, should not be favoring one businessmodel

23 over another. But the percentageof revenue

24 formula, no matter how you try to craft, will

25 inherently do just that.
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